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Second, is that 2018 was a turning 
point as Alberta Central started several 
changes that long term will create 
huge impact. Over the past year, I 
repeatedly shared my belief that 
Alberta Central must intentionally 
pivot towards innovation. That means 
we need to be very clear in the 
viewpoint that what has driven our 
success in the past, will not drive our 
success in the future. So in 2018, we 
asked ourselves, what more can we 
do? How can we do it faster and more 
efficiently? What is getting in our way?

As I look back at my first year
as CEO, two things stand out 
most for me. First, is that as an 
organization we worked hard to 
support our members and the 
system. Throughout 2018, we 
successfully executed on our 
strategic plan with good 
progress made on projects 
including payments 
modernization and trade 
services implementation. We 
also continued to deliver on 
our core operational services, 
focusing on improved 
efficiencies and optimized 
product and service delivery.

CEO   Message
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The second is that 2018 was a tipping 
point for the organization. As we know, 
a tipping point is the apex at which a 
series of small changes are significant 
enough to cause a larger, more 
important change. At Alberta Central, 
2018 was the beginning of several 
changes that long term, will deliver 
huge impact and innovation. Over the 
past year, I repeatedly shared my belief 
that Alberta Central does an excellent 
job at providing critical core services 
credit unions have relied on for many 
years. I have also continually stated 
that disruption is our new normal and 
must be embraced. In 2018, we took on 
that attitude by asking ourselves, what 
more can we do? How can we do it 
faster and more efficiently? And what 
is getting in our way?

This lead to one of several changes – the development 
of our 2019 strategy guided by the philosophy to be 
bold, modernize and thrive. With this strategic plan 
we now have an effective tool to ensure Alberta 
Central continues to offer critical core services but also 
has the ability to reimagine itself as a market leader. A 
big part of this was rethinking our mission and vision 
statements and if they adequately reflected our future 
direction. This led to another change - a new purpose 
statement that captures our motivation and 
inspiration for being. 

We also evaluated our organizational structure to 
support our new direction. This resulted in a small but 
impactful rearrangement of our executive team and 
reporting relationships with the goal to be more 
efficient and effective.

For 2019, we have hit the ground running in our 
process of thinking bigger and bolder by 
transforming how we approach our work. We are 
committed to getting better and faster at moving 
from idea to action to outcome. We have also 
adopted a ‘fail forward’ approach. This means not 
being afraid to try new things through strong analysis, 
building trust, collaborating, effectively managing risk 
and learning from our experiences. Our members, 
partners and affiliates will see market leadership as 
we invest in innovation across all of our business units, 
and a stronger focus on providing relevant 
technology. We will explore potential strategic 
partnerships we may not have imagined before to 
boost our go-to-market capabilities, and to enrich our 
range of products and services, all to deliver more 
value to our members.

But this can only be done with a cultural shift. Alberta 
Central must also ensure employee skills and 
capabilities are aligned, developing staff and 
redeploying internal skill sets where it makes sense. 
Alberta Central’s senior management and employees 
will need to commit to a new culture. One that makes 
room for agility and innovation, decreased silos and 
increased productivity and efficiencies.

For our organization, the turning point has happened. 
On behalf of everyone at Alberta Central, I look forward 
to new action all with the purpose to champion the 
success of our members and the system. 

IAN BURNS
President & CEO
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cont.

We have a goal. And 
that goal is simple 
but bold: we will be 
a leader in the credit 
union industry.



While it’s easy and comfortable to continue doing 
what we’ve always done, we need to be courageous 
and unflinching and commit to innovation. In early 
2019, we started this process of thinking bigger and 
bolder, working diligently with the senior 
management team to begin identifying new 
products and services, improved processes, and how 
to evolve our culture to one of increased 
empowerment to encourage innovation, better 
teamwork, increased productivity and a more 
engaged workforce. The outcome of this will be a 
central that not only offers existing products and 
services but demonstrates the benefits of being bold 
through thought leadership, access to relevant 
technology, advocating for a fair regulatory 
environment and by building credit union awareness.
On behalf of everyone at Alberta Central, we look 
forward to being bold, modernizing and thriving.

IAN BURNS
President & CEO

This lead to our first of several changes – the 
development of our 2019 strategy specifically 
designed to answer those questions, guided by a 
philosophy to be bold, modernize and thrive. Another 
change was to rethink our mission and vision 
statements and replace them with a purpose 
statement to capture our motivation and inspiration 
for being - to champion change in the credit union 
system and bring value and expertise to credit unions. 

A third change was that Alberta Central recognized 
the benefit of evaluating our organizational structure 
internally so we could better position ourselves to 
support and lead externally. This lead to a small but 
impactful rearrangement of our executive team and 
reporting relationships to ensure we are organized in 
a way that supports our bold strategic direction. 

cont.
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When organizations talk about innovation 
they often do so at an operational level and 
not at the board level. That’s because 
innovation isn’t usually on the list of a 
board’s responsibilities. But as Alberta 
Central moved through 2018 and now into 
2019 with a bold vision towards new 
possibilities, the board of directors has 
recognized its own need for more 
proactivity and farsightedness when it 
comes to innovation. 

This starts by evaluating the traditional role 
of the board. While we need to govern, 
oversee competencies and skills and 
ensure there is sound risk prevention, we 
also need to encourage the organization’s 
efforts to be bold, modernize and thrive. 
That means asking ourselves: do we as a 
board encourage active discussion around 
innovation? What role should we play to 
support management when it comes 
to modernization? 

It’s incumbent 
upon us to set a 
tone that creates 
momentum. That 
means supporting 
management in 
developing and 
executing on a 
compelling journey 
to innovation.

Governing from the perspective of ‘it’s 
safer to do what we always have’ is no 
longer an option given our highly 
competitive environment. Our 
commitment to new attitudes, 
encouraging passionate discussion and 
bold thinking is how we can demonstrate 
that our role is indeed to govern but also to 
engage as an effective partner. In early 
2019, we started this process by reviewing 
our risk appetite and tolerance to ensure 
we are prudent and flexible in our risk 
management to support innovation and 
ultimately the Alberta credit union system. 
Furthermore, the addition of two new 
independent directors brings fresh 
perspectives and experiences. This will 
positively contribute to Alberta Central’s 
ability to pivot into thinking bigger when 
exploring new products and services, new 
business models and fresh partnerships.

As Alberta Central continuously evaluates 
its role and future possibilities, it’s 
incumbent upon us to set a tone that 
creates momentum. For 2019 and beyond, 
this is exactly what we intend to do – to 
ensure the continued success of Alberta 
Central and most importantly for the 
success of all of you. 

On behalf of the board of directors, thank 
you to the Alberta Central team and to 
credit union members. We appreciate 
your continued support and feedback. 

Brett Oland
Chair of the Board of Directors 
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Maecenas placerat ullamcorper velit at mollis. Nunc 

nisi, vel eleifend ex lacinia id. Phasellus eu ipsum in 

metus aliquet facilisis nec eu felis. Phasellus ut nisi 

sed diam hendrerit sagittis ac ornare nulla.

Credit Unions 
in Alberta18

$26.6 billion
System Assets

$2.48 billion
System Equity

Branch 
Locations197

278 ATMs
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$212 million
System Earnings*

*Net income before tax and patronage bonus
Data as of October 31, 2018
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layout

$26.6 billion
System Assets

$2.48 billion
System Equity

Branch 
Locations197

Credit Unions 
in Alberta17 3,362 Full-time 

Employees

278 ATMs 628,046 System 
Members

2



ALBERTA CENTRAL  2018 Annual Report5

Highlight placeholder
headline goes here

Phasellus tempus euismod 

aliquam. Maecenas placerat 

ullamcorper velit at mollis. 

Nunc hendrerit enim nisi, vel 

eleifend ex lacinia id. Phasellus 

eu ipsum in metus aliquet 

facilisis nec eu felis. 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit 
amet, consectetur 
adipiscing elit. Ut 

tincidunt lacus quis mi 
mollis dictum. Fusce 

consequat ornare felis, 
quis sodales ante 

consequat in.

Highlight placeholder
headline goes here

Phasellus tempus euismod 

aliquam. Maecenas placerat 

ullamcorper velit at mollis. 

Nunc hendrerit enim nisi, vel 

eleifend ex lacinia id. Phasellus 

eu ipsum in metus aliquet 

facilisis nec eu felis. 

Highlight placeholder
headline goes here

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, 

consectetur adipiscing elit. Morbi et 

tellus risus. Duis non eros vulputate, 

gravida ipsum in, cursus urna. Aliquam 
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Maecenas placerat ullamcorper velit at mollis. Nunc 

nisi, vel eleifend ex lacinia id. Phasellus eu ipsum in 

metus aliquet facilisis nec eu felis. Phasellus ut nisi 

sed diam hendrerit sagittis ac ornare nulla.

To champion change in the credit union system 
and bring value and expertise to credit unions.
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Looking forward to 2019
(”Time to be bold” guidelines/objectives)
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Payments Future Direction

•  Implementation of a third Automated 
Funds Transfer (AFT) exchange as part of 
Payments Canada’s Modernization initiative.

•  Continued analysis of payments alternatives 
to ensure credit unions can respond to 
payments modernization initiative.

Trade Services Strategy implementation

•  Trade services strategy implemented

•  Government relations advocacy 
strategy built to enhance credit 
unions’ profile with the Alberta 
government; identified advocacy 
opportunities and provided support 
for credit unions to participate in 
advocacy efforts.

•  “Local delivery – national coordination” 
approach with the Canadian Credit 
Union Association (CCUA) implemented.

•  Developed and implemented 
a shared Chief Anti Money 
Laundering Officer solution and 
Compliance Help Desk for credit 
unions as part of CCUA’s Market 
Conduct Code work.

Credit union awareness

•  Optimized marketing resources across the 
Alberta credit union system to create a 
successful marketing campaign. 

Developed new digital communications 
strategy with refreshed social media 
channels to build awareness of 
credit unions.

In 2018 Alberta Central worked on a 

variety of projects to help our member 

credit unions. Some highlights include:



Financial statements cover page

As a central we have supported our credit unions for more 

than 50 years. While we have a great foundation of 

providing value to our members, we are faced with a reality 

much different than even five years ago. Now more than 

ever, we must look for solutions to help position us to adapt 

and embrace change. For 2019, our strategy will be guided 

by the philosophy: be bold, modernize and thrive. 
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Our Goals

to a stronger system.

An Enabling 
Regulatory Environment

Enable a regulatory 
environment and legislative 
framework that allow 
credit unions to continue 
to operate and enhance 
their competitiveness.

Relevant Technology

Facilitate credit union 
access to proven and 
relevant technology 
that produces better 
member experiences.

Efficiency and Scale

Explore service delivery 
models to achieve 
efficiencies and scale for 
the benefit of the Alberta 
credit union system.

Increased Awareness

Increase awareness of 
credit unions so that 
more Albertans 
become members.
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C O R P O R AT E  G O V E R N A N C E

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Throughout 2018, Alberta Central’s board was comprised of twelve directors from four credit union regions. Two of the regions are determined 
geographically (North and South) and two regions are comprised of the largest credit unions in Alberta (Servus and Connect First).

Director Roles and Responsibilities
The board of directors is responsible for the stewardship of Alberta Central, approval and oversight of strategy, the risk appetite framework and the 
appointment, performance review and compensation of the president and chief executive officer. The role and responsibilities of Alberta Central’s 
board and committees are outlined in Alberta Central’s bylaws, corporate policies and mandates, and terms of reference for each board standing 
committee.

Board Independence
Alberta Central’s board is comprised entirely of independent, non-Alberta Central employee directors. In furthering the independence of its 
directors, Alberta Central’s board meets independently of management as part of every scheduled meeting. The external auditor attends all Audit, 
Finance & Risk Committee meetings and meets with the committee without management present. The internal audit function also has direct 
access to the Audit, Finance & Risk Committee. The board may independently engage outside professional advisors and is empowered to do so by 
Alberta Central’s bylaws. In 2017 the Credit Union Act (Alberta) was amended to require, effective January 1, 2019, the Alberta Central board include 
two directors not related to credit unions that are members of Alberta Central. 

Table as of December 31, 2018. Effective January 1, 2019, the board was expanded to include two directors appointed by the board who are not related to credit unions 

that are members of Alberta Central. 

REGION
DIRECTOR 

ENTITLEMENT CREDIT UNION

A 5 Servus

B 2 Connect First

North 3 ABCU  Encompass  Vermilion 

Christian  Lakeland  Vision

Edson   Rocky 

South 2 1st Choice   Khalsa   TransCanada

Bow Valley   Pincher Creek  

Calgary Police Spark
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C O R P O R AT E  G O V E R N A N C E

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Board Evaluation
The board undertakes an annual self-assessment process to evaluate the effectiveness of the board as a whole. Alberta Central’s executive 
management team participates in the board assessment process (at the invitation of the board) to provide input and recommendations on board 
effectiveness and process. The board also conducts a director skills self-assessment and peer assessment as part of this process. The data received 
from this report is used by the Governance Committee to discuss skill gaps at the board level and assist the committee in making recommendations 
with respect to board recruitment. The feedback is also used by individual directors in planning their professional development activities.

Director Remuneration
Directors receive remuneration in the form of monthly honoraria and per diem fees for attendance at board meetings and compensation for travel 
time and expenses. The total remuneration and expenses paid to Alberta Central directors is disclosed in Note 17 of the Financial Statements, 
Related Party Transactions.

Board Committees
Alberta Central’s board has three standing committees responsible for both legislated and delegated functions. The committees are comprised of 
Alberta Central directors, with management acting as a resource for the committees. Each committee meets regularly throughout the year and is 
required to provide timely and regular reports to the board of directors. The chairs of each committee are elected by the directors of the respective 
committees. The chair of the board is a voting ex-officio member of all of the board standing committees.

Governance Committee
The Governance Committee is comprised of five directors (January 1, 2019 – six directors) and the Chair of the board is an ex-officio member of the 
committee. The committee has oversight responsibility for Alberta Central’s corporate policies and governance practices and oversees Alberta 
Central’s corporate governance framework. The Governance Committee also oversees the succession planning, performance review process and 
compensation of the president and chief executive officer on an annual basis. This committee remains informed of best practices in corporate 
governance and makes recommendations to the board to continually improve Alberta Central’s governance.

Audit, Finance & Risk Committee
The Audit, Finance & Risk Committee is comprised of six directors (January 1, 2019 – seven directors) and the chair of the board is an ex-officio 
member of the committee. The committee has oversight and responsibility for policies relating to investment, lending, capital management and 
risk management, and provides oversight of Alberta Central’s internal audit function to ensure appropriate internal controls are in place and are 
functioning as intended. The committee is also responsible for reviewing the internal audit mandate and internal/external annual audit plans, as well 
as Alberta Central’s annual budget and financial, risk management, regulatory compliance, lending and treasury reporting.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Conduct Review Committee
The Conduct Review Committee is comprised of the same six directors (January 1, 2019 – seven directors) as the Audit, Finance & Risk Committee, 
and the chair of the committee is the same as that of the Audit, Finance & Risk Committee. The committee has oversight and responsibility for 
managing compliance with related party transaction provisions as required by the regulator.

Board Appointed Director Search Committee
In 2018, the board of directors appointed five directors to a special committee to oversee the recruitment of two directors not related to credit 
unions that are members of Alberta Central. The committee’s work was guided by the board-approved Board of Directors Position Description and 
Board-Appointed Selection Criteria.

Internal Controls
Alberta Central’s internal audit team, under the direction of the board’s Audit, Finance & Risk Committee, periodically assesses the effectiveness 
of internal controls. The findings and recommendations of the internal audit team are reported to Alberta Central management and the Audit, 
Finance & Risk Committee to ensure appropriate internal controls are in place.

Risk Management
Among its responsibilities, the board must ensure that Alberta Central has the capability and demonstrates behaviours that support its risk 
appetite. The Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Policy sets the direction for governing and managing risks generally. Responsibility for 
monitoring the overall risk framework remains with the board of directors as a whole but responsibility for monitoring adherence to the ERM 
policy is assigned to the Audit, Finance & Risk Committee, which supports the board in its oversight function. A Management Risk Committee, 
comprised of the executive management team, regularly assesses the key risks Alberta Central faces and updates the board on its risk assessments 
and any mitigating action plans.

Conduct and Accountability
Alberta Central has policies and procedures that outline the standards of conduct to which all employees and directors must adhere in performing 
their duties for the organization. Alberta Central has a whistleblower program in place that allows employees to report instances of serious and 
deliberate acts of unethical behavior related to the workplace and provides assurance that they will be protected from harassment, retaliation or 
adverse employment consequences provided the report was made in good faith and was not frivolous or malicious.

C O R P O R AT E  G O V E R N A N C E
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*The board chair is an ex officio member of each committee

** Kurt Richard filled the vacancy for Wayne Warner who retired from the board June 26, 2018.

In 2018 the board appointed a search committee comprised of 5 directors to conduct the search for two board appointed directors. The board appointed search 

committee met seven times throughout 2018.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Director Attendance
Total Board meetings – 7
Total Governance Committee meetings – 5 
Total Audit, Finance & Risk Committee meetings – 4
Total Conduct Review Committee meetings – 3

DIRECTOR BOARD MEETING
GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE

AUDIT, FINANCE & 
RISK COMMITTEE

CONDUCT REVIEW 
COMMITTEE

Dan Bruinooge 7 4

Perry Dooley (from April 2018) 5 3 2

Iris Evans 7 5

Ian Glassford 7 4 3

Doug Hastings (from April 2018) 5 3

Paul Kelly 7 4 3

Brett Oland* 7 5 4 2

Bob Petryk 6 5

Ron Pilger 7 4 3

Kurt Richard** (from September 2018) 2 2

Badriea Taha (from April 2018) 5 3 2

John Veldkamp 6 3 3

C O R P O R AT E  G O V E R N A N C E
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OVERVIEW

This section of the annual report, which provides management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A), reviews and analyzes the results of operations 
and financial condition of Alberta Central for the year ended December 31, 2018 and enables readers to assess material changes in the financial 
condition and operating results of the central. The financial information within this MD&A should be read in conjunction with Alberta Central’s 
audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018, which were approved by the Board of Directors on February 21, 2019. The 
results presented in this MD&A, and in the financial statements, are reported in Canadian dollars and have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). This MD&A provides comments regarding Alberta Central’s core business, joint ventures, 
financial performance, economic outlook, risk management, and regulatory environment. Note that certain comparative amounts have been 
reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in the current period.

WHO WE ARE

Alberta Central is the central banking facility, service bureau and trade association for Alberta’s credit unions. We are advocates of the financial 
cooperative model, and provide leadership and support to the credit unions we represent.

Our purpose is to champion change in the credit union system and bring value and expertise to credit unions.

At Alberta Central our people are also important to us. For the second year in a row, Alberta Central has been named as one of Alberta’s top 75 
employers. This designation recognizes Alberta employers that lead their industries in offering exceptional places to work.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS IN 2018

On April 1, 2018, the provincial credit union centrals, The CUMIS Group, and Desjardins completed the merger of Credential Financial Inc. (CFI), NEI 
Investments (NEI) and Qtrade Canada Inc. (Qtrade) to form Aviso Wealth Inc. (Aviso). Aviso is jointly owned by Desjardins and CU CUMIS Wealth 
Holdings, a limited partnership comprised of the provincial centrals and The CUMIS Group, each holding a 50 percent interest. Aviso is one of 
Canada’s largest independent financial services providers with over $55 billion in assets under administration and management and more than 
500,000 clients across the country. Aviso will provide comprehensive wealth management services for credit unions and their members. The 
transaction resulted in Alberta Central recognizing a fair value increase of $19.9 million during 2017 and a further $1.3 million during 2018, both 
recorded through other comprehensive income. Alberta Central uses equity method accounting for its investment in CU CUMIS Wealth Holdings. 
Notes 3(h), 8 and 10 to the financial statements provide further details regarding this transaction. 

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report includes written forward-looking statements that include, but are not limited to, financial performance objectives, economic 
review and outlook for the Alberta and Canadian economies, vision and strategic goals. Such statements require management to make assumptions 
and involve inherent risks and uncertainties, general and specific. Undue reliance should not be placed on forward-looking statements as actual 
results may differ materially from expectations due to a number of factors including but not limited to legislative or regulatory changes and 
general economic conditions in Alberta and Canada. Alberta Central does not undertake to update any forward-looking statements contained in 
this annual report.

M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A LY S I S
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CORE BUSINESS

Reflecting our cooperative business model and ownership by members, Alberta Central is not primarily profit driven. 

As liquidity manager for the Alberta credit union system, Alberta Central’s earning capacity is influenced by the large proportion of high quality 
and liquid, but lower yielding assets in its securities portfolio. Our expense structure is reflective of Alberta Central’s role in bringing value to credit 
unions as a trade organization. Alberta Central also provides government advocacy services to credit unions to represent their interests with 
provincial regulators and government.

Through joint ventures, Alberta Central provides payments processing and information technology (IT) services. 

Supporting the financial needs of credit unions, Alberta Central promotes system growth by providing credit union lending, foreign exchange, 
derivative and loan syndication programs, allowing credit unions to take advantage of Alberta Central’s industry expertise and strong financial 
rating. Alberta Central’s commercial paper program, which relies on an R-1 (low) credit rating by DBRS, also provides access to capital markets. 

Alberta Central is governed under the Alberta Credit Union Act and is regulated by Alberta Treasury Board and Finance (Alberta TBF). 

JOINT VENTURES

Payments
Credit Union Payment Services (CUPS) is jointly owned by Alberta Central and SaskCentral with Alberta Central being the appointed manager 
of the joint venture. Through CUPS, Alberta Central provides leadership in payments technology and supports the payment processing, clearing 
and settlement operations for the Alberta and Saskatchewan credit union systems. CUPS service offerings including image clearing, electronic 
payments, tracing, statements, and help desk. Alberta Central’s participation in the earnings from this venture is based on the volume of Alberta 
credit union payment processing activity.

Enhancements to CUPS Products and Services
CUPS achieved its 2018 goal of continued enhancement to its services to credit unions across two areas:

1. Implementation of a third Automated Funds Transfer (AFT) exchange, shortening the processing period for AFT transactions to two hours, 
providing a more uniform service across the country.

2. CUPS is now positioned to accept return image files and ready for return image exchange with other direct clearers. 

Development towards a third initiative to implement an updated wires platform continues into 2019. 

Payments Canada Modernization
Payments Canada has embarked upon a multi-year initiative to develop a modern payments system that is fast, flexible and secure, promotes 
innovation and strengthens Canada’s competitive position. The adoption of ISO 20022, an international payments messaging standard that 
supports electronic payments, is a key component in the modernization initiative for Canada’s core national clearing and settlement framework 
and infrastructure. 

M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A LY S I S
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JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Creating and delivering a viable strategy against this initiative will continue to be a significant driver of Alberta Central’s focus over the coming years 
as CUPS works to determine the optimal method of meeting the modernization time-lines and the subsequent organizational structure required. 
Due to the potential financial and service impacts of these decisions, leaders of the centrals and credit union representatives are collaborating to 
address the Payments Canada modernization impacts on credit unions. Alberta Central and CUPS personnel are actively involved in the leadership 
and work streams supporting this initiative.

Information Technology Services
Alberta Central’s 33.3 percent interest in Celero Solutions (Celero) and Celero’s 49.0 percent interest in Everlink Payment Services Inc. (Everlink), 
enables it to support IT solutions and systems for credit unions and other financial institutions. 

Celero provides complete banking solutions, IT planning, systems integration, hosting, support, maintenance and professional services to meet the 
unique needs of financial institutions of all sizes and operations. Celero is unique in its depth of core banking system conversion and technology 
support services for Canadian credit unions, which it offers to its clients located from British Columbia to Ontario.

Celero was ranked #86 on the 2018 IDC FinTech Rankings, the most comprehensive vendor ranking in the worldwide financial services industry. 

In 2018, Celero, in partnership with Fiserv, achieved major advances in the Canadian core banking market with the addition of six new clients to 
the DNA banking platform, with each choosing Celero as their conversion partner. Celero also completed two other DNA banking conversions 
during 2018. This is a reflection of the significant interest across the credit union system in the DNA banking platform and in the value that Celero 
and DNA bring to credit unions.

In 2018, Celero brought new technology to market that will greatly improve how credit unions access new capabilities and integrate them with 
their current technology environments. The Enterprise Service Bus (ESB) platform focuses on accelerating speed to market and connectivity to a 
range of member solutions. This is a critical enabler of a credit union’s digital transformation journey. In 2019, a broad range of innovative fintech 
banking capabilities will be connected to the integration platform, opening up the capability for a more targeted, differentiated and personalized 
member experience.

Preventing intrusion into credit union systems is integral to the stewardship Celero provides its clients. Celero is pleased to report there were no 
privacy or data breach incidents in 2018. Celero’s comprehensive and independent annual 3416 audit, which measures whether Celero’s wide 
range of systems and processes have appropriate security and privacy controls in place, was carried out by Deloitte and once again achieved an 
unqualified or “clean” audit report.

Everlink is a leading provider of comprehensive, innovative and integrated payments solutions and services for credit unions, banks, and small/
medium enterprises across Canada. Everlink offers a diversified range of integrated payments solutions. These include Automated Teller Machine 
(ATM) managed services, card issuance and management, fraud management systems and mobile payments, and payment network connectivity 
via the payment network gateway.

2018 net income before tax increased by over 100 percent compared to 2017. During 2018 Everlink processed over one billion transactions for the 
first time in its history with year-over-year transaction growth of 23 percent. In addition, Everlink now serves 94 percent of Canada’s credit unions, 
as well as 55 percent of consumer facing schedule one and two banks, and 100 percent of all Interac mobile debit transactions. 

Everlink has moved from a limited market, client specific “switch” to an industry recognized end-to-end payments solutions company with a 
growing portfolio of services.

M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A LY S I S
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2018 ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

Prior to the fourth quarter of 2018 Alberta oil prices were materially higher than those following the 2014/15 oil price collapse, and most economic 
indicators within Alberta continued to improve. However, conditions within the Alberta economy deteriorated in the last quarter as Alberta crude 
oil traded at record discounts to global benchmarks due to market access issues. The Alberta government responded by ordering production 
cuts of 325,000 barrels per day (about 9.0 percent of total production) starting January 1, 2019. Market access issues are expected to persist in 2019, 
creating weaker corporate profits and decreased levels of investment. Alberta’s real gross domestic product (GDP) growth for 2018 was 2.3 percent. 
Economic conditions in 2018 manifested in downward pressure on commercial real estate collateral values for certain loans in Alberta Central’s 
commercial loan and mortgage portfolio.

Nationally, the Canadian economy demonstrated signs of stability, with unemployment levels at a 40-year low, and stable GDP, estimated at 2.1 
percent for 2018. Growth in the national economy has come from consumer and government spending, and business investment. Residential 
investment was a drag on growth as housing markets tightened due to stricter lending regulations and rising interest rates. The national economy 
also slowed in the final quarter of 2018 largely due to falling oil prices. The International Monetary Fund (IMF) estimated global growth in 2018 at 
3.7 percent (the same as in 2017).

The interest rate environment changed significantly during 2018 with the Bank of Canada raising its overnight rate by 75 basis points (bps) to 1.75 
percent. 

2019 ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

The IMF has projected global growth of 3.7 percent in 2019, with advanced economies contributing 2.1 percent, emerging market and developing 
economies contributing 4.7 percent. The United States is expected to be the major contributor to the growth of advanced economies. 

The Bank of Canada is forecasting national real GDP growth of 2.0 percent and national total CPI of 2.0 percent. The Bank kept its overnight rate 
at 1.75 percent at its January 2019 meeting adding to market expectations that further rate rises over the upcoming year will be more muted in 
comparison to 2018. This has resulted in a much flatter yield curve as fixed income investors have reduced their expectations for additional rate 
hikes. In addition, fixed income investors are also pricing in higher credit risk for Canadian corporate debt.

Alberta’s population growth is expected to be 1.5 percent. The average unemployment rate is expected to remain at 6.7 percent and average 
weekly wages are expected to increase by 1.9 percent. Market access issues for Alberta oil are expected to persist in 2019, creating a weaker and 
more challenging economy. Alberta’s GDP growth is forecast at 1.5 percent, down from 2.3 percent in 2018 and 4.5 percent in 2017. 
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2018 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE ALBERTA CREDIT UNION SYSTEM1

Growth
Based on 2018 year-end figures (October 31, 2018), annual total asset growth among Alberta’s credit unions was 4.4 percent (2017 – 3.9 percent). 
Growth is higher than the 5-year annual average of 4.1 percent but remains lower than the 10-year annual average of 4.9 percent. 

Annual loan growth was 4.8 percent (2017 – 3.4 percent) and deposit growth was 2.0 percent (2017 – 2.1 percent). The system achieved gains in 
market share in loans and deposits in 2018.

Alberta Credit Union System – Balance Sheet Growth (source: CUDGC)

2018 2017

$ GROWTH $  GROWTH

(millions of dollars)

Total loans 22,964 4.8% 21,908 3.4%

Residential 12,899 3.7% 12,437 4.1%

Commercial 6,849 3.9% 6,594 2.4%

Consumer 2,091 11.2% 1,880 0.8%

Agricultural & other 1,125 12.8% 997 7.0%

Total assets 26,591 4.4% 25,460 3.9%

Member deposits 21,919 2.0% 21,495 2.1%

Profitability
Net income before taxes and patronage dividends totaled $212.4 million (2017 – $204.3 million), or 0.80 percent of average assets (2017 – 0.82 
percent). This is higher than the five-year annual average and the 10-year annual average both at 0.79 percent. This longer-term improvement is 
largely attributable to continuing reductions in operating costs. 

Credit union members received patronage and share dividends totaling $85 million during 2018 (2017 – $80 million). 

With Alberta Central’s role as a liquidity manager and a requirement for Alberta credit unions to maintain statutory liquidity deposits with the 
provincial central, the outlook for growth in Alberta Central’s yielding asset base is naturally tied to the performance of the Alberta credit union 
system including the generation of deposits and growth in loans.

2018 2017

(millions of dollars) 

Average Assets 26,416 24,893

Financial Margin 617.1 589.8

(as a % of average assets) 2.33% 2.37%

Net income before taxes and patronage 212.4 204.3

(as a % of average assets) 0.80% 0.82%

Alberta Credit Union System – Profitability (source: CUDGC)

1 Alberta credit union system financial information has been provided by the Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation (CUDGC), the regulator of the provincial credit 

union system. Alberta Central has not verified the accuracy or completeness of this information. All financial information is based on a fiscal October 31 year end.
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Capital
The system maintains strong capital ratios in support of its activities with 2018 capital ratios strengthening over 2017. 

Membership
In 2018 membership in the Alberta system increased by 3.15 percent from 2017. The market intelligence organization, Ipsos Reid, awarded its  
2018 Customer Service Excellence award, an annual program that recognizes Canadian financial institutions for excellence in customer experience, 
to Canada’s credit unions. This is the fourteenth consecutive year that Canada’s credit unions have received the award. Including the overall 
Customer Service Excellence Award, Canada’s credit unions are the recipients of nine awards in total.

ADOPTION OF NEW FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

International Financial Reporting Standard 9 (IFRS 9) Financial Instruments became effective January 1, 2018. The standard was applied on a 
retrospective basis, except that, as permitted under the standard, it was adopted without restatement of comparative figures; the transition 
adjustments arising on January 1, 2018 are presented as an adjustment to opening retained earnings. The transitional adjustment upon the 
adoption of IFRS 9 was a reduction in retained earnings of $255 thousand after tax, to reflect the impact of provisions for expected credit losses 
under the new standard. 

International Financial Reporting Standard 15 (IFRS 15) Revenue from Contracts with Customers became effective January 1, 2018. The standard 
was adopted using the cumulative effect method. The new standard applies to Alberta Central’s operating revenue and investment in Celero. 
There is no material change to the timing or measurement of operating revenues under the new standard as compared to Alberta Central’s 
previous revenue recognition accounting policies. Celero’s revenue recognition policies were impacted by the adoption of IFRS 15, resulting in a 
reduction of $626 thousand in Alberta Central’s opening retained earnings. 

International Financial Reporting Standard 16 (IFRS 16) Leases became effective January 1, 2019. Alberta Central has elected to adopt the standard 
without restatement of comparative figures; any transition adjustments arising on January 1, 2019 will be presented as adjustments to opening 
retained earnings, assets and liabilities as applicable. 
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2018 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF ALBERTA CENTRAL

Financial Overview
Alberta Central’s net income, before tax and dividends, of $11.6 million (2017 – $9.4 million) is the second highest achieved in its history from 
ongoing operations. Driving this success are a number of factors, including record joint venture income and higher than anticipated commercial 
lending volumes and rates. 

Net Interest Income
Alberta Central’s 2018 net interest income before provisions for credit losses was $14.5 million (2017 – $13.4 million). The debt securities portfolio 
earned better than anticipated returns due to strong performance in the US portfolio and strong market positioning in the Canadian portfolio. 
The three 25 bps rises in interest rates during 2018 had limited positive impact on debt securities portfolio income due to the effect of short-term 
liabilities repricing more quickly than the longer-term debt securities. Alberta Central’s commercial loan portfolio volumes and average rates 
increased over 2017 levels, partially offset by increased provisions on existing credit impaired loans. 

The following chart highlights Alberta Central’s percentage interest yields and interest expense:
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2018 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF ALBERTA CENTRAL (CONTINUED)

Provision for Credit Losses
As a financial institution, Alberta Central is exposed to credit risk, primarily through its investment and lending activities. Although Alberta 
Central’s non-credit union lending portfolio is 100 percent (2017 – 99.9 percent) concentrated in Alberta, credit risk exposure remains diversified 
across industry sectors.

Alberta Central remained committed to its loan syndication program to redistribute liquidity within the system and provide participating credit 
unions with higher yielding assets. 

As an asset class, the commercial portfolio presents a higher risk profile than the other asset classes on Alberta Central’s balance sheet. Alberta 
Central management regularly reviews its commercial loans portfolio to assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition. If credit risk has increased significantly from initial recognition or if a commercial loan is considered credit impaired, a loss 
provision equal to the lifetime expected credit losses is recognized. Where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, a loss provision equal to 12 months expected credit losses is recognized. Provisions are recorded to reduce the carrying amount of 
loans to their estimated realizable values.

During 2018 provisions on existing credit impaired loans were adjusted resulting in lifetime expected credit loss provisions against principal and 
interest increasing to $6.3 million (2017 – $4.6 million). The balance consists of $4.9 million provisions on credit impaired commercial loans and 
$1.4 million provisions on non-credit impaired commercial loans where management considers there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
from initial recognition. 
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2018 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF ALBERTA CENTRAL (CONTINUED)

Certain commercial loan sectors, particularly the Calgary office sector, continue to be challenged due to the effects of the recent recession in 
Alberta, with vacancy rates of 25-30 percent in the Calgary office sector creating downward pressure on underlying collateral levels. Management 
has completed a best estimate of appropriate provisions based on information currently available. Loan provisions, calculated under International 
Financial Reporting Standard 9 (IFRS 9) Financial Instruments, increased by $1.6 million during the year (2017 – $1.0 million). Alberta Central’s 
transitional adjustment upon the adoption of IFRS 9 included a reduction in retained earnings of $0.1 million reflecting additional provision for 
credit losses on existing credit-impaired commercial loans.

While management expects underlying performance of the commercial portfolio as a whole to remain strong, a significant amount of uncertainty 
does remain regarding the fair value of the remaining credit impaired loans as the range of reasonable provisions remains fairly broad. 

The carrying value of credit impaired commercial loans, net of specific provisions, is $17.0 million (2017  $19.3 million). Actual realization on the 
remaining carrying value of the loans could vary significantly, either positively or negatively, from these estimates.

Notes 2(d), 3(c), 9, and 19 (a) to the financial statements provide further details regarding 12 month and lifetime credit provisions.

The securities portfolio consists of high quality and highly liquid assets in which the credit risk is considered very low. Alberta Central manages 
credit exposure on investment activities by adhering to an Investment Policy that identifies a basic standard of investment quality. Alberta Central’s 
transitional adjustment upon the adoption of IFRS 9 included a reduction in retained earnings of $0.2 million reflecting provision for credit losses 
within the securities portfolio. 
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2018 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF ALBERTA CENTRAL (CONTINUED)

Operating Revenues 

In addition to its net interest income, Alberta Central earns operating revenue from its interest in the CUPS joint venture, credit union member 
dues, complementary financial services, ancillary services provided on a fee for service basis and other operating revenues from various facilities, 
human resources and accounting services provided to its joint ventures. Operating revenues increased in 2018 to $25.4 million (2017 – $24.4 million).

Because Alberta Central has joint control of CUPS, it accounts for its investment as a joint operation. As such, Alberta Central’s share of both CUPS’ 
total income and total expenses are recorded through Alberta Central’s operating revenues and operating expenses. CUPS’ revenues grew 3.1 
percent from 2017, reflective of growth in electronic payments. 

As a trade association for all Alberta credit unions, Alberta Central’s role is to recognize where there is strength in shared action and to facilitate 
these opportunities. The trade function at Alberta Central provides leadership and strategic support, and undertakes advocacy to represent the 
interests of Alberta credit unions with provincial regulators and government. Dues charged to credit unions were up $0.4 million from the prior 
year due to an increase in payments related costs, and $1.2 million below budget, which will be rebated to credit unions in 2019. 

Financial services operating revenues include revenue from complementary activities in the treasury and lending areas, such as foreign exchange, 
asset/liability management and commercial loan application fees. Also included is revenue from ancillary services such as manuals, credit union 
audit services, cash services and purchasing which are offered on a direct cost fee for service basis. Current year revenues earned by Alberta 
Central’s financial and ancillary services were up $0.3 million from 2017. 

Other operating revenues, consisting of services primarily provided to Alberta Central’s joint ventures, remained relatively flat against 2017.
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2018 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF ALBERTA CENTRAL (CONTINUED)

Operating Expenses 
Operating expenses include those relating directly to Alberta Central and also Alberta Central’s share of operating expenses in CUPS. Operating 
expenses, including personnel, property and equipment, administration and organization costs, were held relatively flat year over year at $28.7 
million (2017 – $28.5 million).

Personnel and related costs decreased by approximately 2.1 percent relating to efficiencies gained within Alberta Central and CUPS. 

Administration and other expenses increased 4.6 percent largely due to an increase in expenses relating to initiatives in payments. 

All other expenses remained largely in line with 2017 levels.

Earnings from equity method investments
Alberta Central’s 33.3 percent interest in Celero is equity accounted within the statement of income, and includes Celero’s 49.0 percent equity 
interest in Everlink. Alberta Central’s share of net income was $2.2 million in 2018 (2017 – $1.2 million). Celero achieved its second highest net 
income in its history driven by customer growth in core banking, and increased project and professional services revenues. Celero’s subsidiary, 
Everlink, achieved its highest net income in its history driven by growth in mobile transaction processing, card issuance, fraud management, and 
professional services.

CU CUMIS Wealth Holdings owns 50 percent of Aviso Wealth which was formed April 1, 2018 on the merger of Credential, QTrade, and NEI.  
The equity accounted results reflect merger transition costs incurred in the first year of operations (see Significant Events in 2018). 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI)
The increase in AOCI from prior year is largely based on estimates of fair value relating to the Interac Corporation, of which Alberta Central has an 
indirect interest, and CFI and NEI prior to the merger with Qtrade to form Aviso (see Significant Events in 2018). Both of these increases in value 
have no impact on Alberta Central’s net income and are excluded from regulatory capital.
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LIQUIDITY MANAGEMENT

Alberta Central is the prescribed liquidity manager for Alberta’s credit unions. Alberta Central’s bylaws require Alberta credit unions to maintain 
a minimum of one percent of their assets as share capital in Alberta Central. Alberta credit unions are also required to maintain liquidity deposits 
at Alberta Central such that their total liquidity deposits and share capital held with Alberta Central comprise no less than nine percent of each 
credit union’s liabilities.

Alberta Central participates with other Canadian credit union centrals in a group clearing arrangement under the terms of the Credit Union 
System Group Clearing Joint Venture Agreement. The Group Clearer is a member of Payments Canada that exchanges payment items and effects 
clearing and settlement. 

Alberta Central’s investment portfolio continues to be comprised primarily of very low risk, highly liquid assets. As of December 31, 2018, substantially 
all investments within the portfolio carried a rating of at least R-1 (low) or A, and approximately 92 percent of the portfolio carried a remaining 
term to maturity of under one year. Provincial legislation requires Alberta Central to maintain six percent of Alberta credit union system assets in 
government securities or certain other qualifying liquid assets maturing within one year. 

During 2018, Alberta Central amended its investment strategy to support credit union compliance with liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) regulatory 
requirements. This resulted in a shift away from corporate securities to lower yielding but more liquid federal and provincial government bonds. 
Credit union regulatory guidance adopted a “look through” approach in the calculation of the LCR metric, which means that a credit union’s 
statutory deposits are treated as though the credit union has invested directly in the investments that Alberta Central is holding on its behalf in 
the provincial statutory pool.

The qualifying liquidity portfolio composition is outlined in the following chart.
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

Alberta Central maintains strong capital ratios to support the risks and activities of the business. As outlined in its Capital Policy, Alberta Central’s 
objectives when managing capital are:

• to balance member credit unions’ desire for a return on capital with the capital requirements of Alberta Central to fulfill its liquidity mandate;
• to maintain a strong capital base to support the continued growth and changing circumstances of the credit union system through the

development of Alberta Central’s business;
• to maintain a consistently strong credit rating and investor confidence; and 
• to comply with the capital requirements set by its regulator.

Alberta Central’s capital levels are regulated under guidelines issued by Alberta TBF, and require Alberta Central to maintain a prescribed 
borrowing multiple, the ratio of borrowings to regulatory capital, of 15:1 or less. Alberta Central is required to complete an Internal Capital Adequacy 
Assessment Process (ICAAP), which forms part of the regulatory framework established by Alberta TBF that applies to Alberta Central.

Alberta Central’s ICAAP serves as a key component of its risk management program, quantifying risk appetite (internal operating limit (IOL)) and 
risk tolerance (board policy limit (BPL)) for the management of capital relative to the level and nature of risk in the organization. 

Alberta Central’s Bylaws provide the ability for Alberta Central to call for capital in the event that capital levels fall below specified risk  
tolerance levels.

LIQUIDITY MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

One third of the amount prescribed above must mature within 90 days. The required balance in qualifying liquid assets at December 31, 2018 was 
$1.6 billion. Alberta Central’s liquidity reserves, when measured by year-end balances and throughout the year, were in excess of the requirements 
under provincial legislation. The following chart below plots the relationship of Alberta Central’s actual to required liquidity over the past two years.
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Alberta Central’s leverage remained below both its regulatory capital and internal capital maximums as presented in the following chart.

Alberta Central also prepares a Capital Plan, which serves as a tool for the board in assessing the adequacy of Alberta Central’s forward looking 
capital position in fulfilling its capital management objectives. Once approved by the board, both the ICAAP and Capital Plan are provided to 
Alberta TBF.

The Capital Plan forecasts the expected organic growth of Alberta Central’s capital over a three-year period assuming annual income budgets 
are achieved and a share dividend as outlined in the Capital Policy is approved by the board. Alberta Central’s capital leverage ratio has averaged 
below the risk appetite of 11.0:1, and is forecast to remain below risk appetite through the capital-planning horizon to 2021. 

Share capital dividends are determined based on a board-approved Capital Policy that provides for a share dividend calculated annually. 

The payment of share capital dividends and the timing and amount of such dividends is subject to the discretion of the board of directors 
after consideration of Alberta Central’s capital adequacy risk appetite, as determined through the ICAAP, its Capital Plan, and after a review of  
year-end results.

Share capital dividends of $8.1 million were paid in the first quarter of 2018 (2017 – $6.1 million). Special share dividends of $10.0 million were also 
paid in the first quarter of 2018. 

On February 21, 2019, Alberta Central’s board of directors declared a capital share dividend of $8.8 million for payment in the first quarter of 2019.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk is inherent in business and when managed appropriately is a source of growth and sustainability. Alberta Central’s objective is to optimize 
risk for the protection and creation of member value. Optimizing risk means striking a balance between risk and reward and at the same time 
ensuring that Alberta Central’s risk-taking is consistent with its strategic plan and board approved risk appetites. In order to meet risk management 
objectives, risks must be identified, understood, measured, assessed and managed on an enterprise-wide basis. 

Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Framework
Alberta Central’s ERM framework integrates its risk management process into the overall strategic management and governance structure of 
the organization. Alberta Central’s ERM framework provides the policies and structure to allow it to identify, assess, mitigate where appropriate, 
and accept risk in accordance with its risk appetite and tolerance. This process ensures that Alberta Central is cognizant of the material risks 
that it faces and mitigates them, as necessary, until they reach an acceptable level. Ongoing review and approval of risk appetite and tolerance 
statements by the board is integral to the ERM framework and will continue through 2019. 

Alberta Central has determined that the following risk categories are most applicable to the business operations.

Capital Adequacy Risk
Capital adequacy risk is the risk of financial loss and/or regulatory intervention due to the failure of Alberta Central to maintain the prescribed 
capital base to meet regulatory requirements and/or the capital base necessary to support its business plans. Alberta Central’s capital management 
processes anticipate the capital requirements and the sources that will be drawn upon to maintain the necessary level of capital throughout the 
year. Management regularly monitors and reports the levels and quality of the company’s capital to the Audit, Finance & Risk Committee (AFRC) 
and the board. 

Annually the board approves Alberta Central’s ICAAP and Capital Plan. The board has approved risk appetite and tolerance statements pertaining 
to capital adequacy risk.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk of being unable to meet financial commitments through regular cash flows, which can lead to losses as Alberta Central 
could be forced to raise funds at higher costs or sell assets at reduced prices. For Alberta Central this means ensuring that managed assets must 
be available to meet its own needs as well as the needs of Alberta credit unions. 

Alberta Central ensures there is sound management of liquidity and funding risk. Alberta Central is willing to accept liquidity risks that carry a low 
probability of triggering reliance on contingent sources of liquidity and increased cost of funds. Alberta Central’s investments are of high-grade 
credit quality that can be pledged or sold to provide liquidity as needed, even under stressed market conditions. As a further risk management 
strategy, Alberta Central maintains a well-diversified funding structure and develops external sources of liquidity outside the credit union system. 
Cash flow forecasting, liquidity stress testing and contingency planning are key elements of the liquidity risk management framework.

Alberta Central is the liquidity manager for the Alberta credit union system, which is strictly regulated by provincial regulations and guidelines. 
Policy and procedures are established to comply with regulations, guidelines and board approved risk appetite and tolerance statements. Alberta 
Central has established investment and lending policies to ensure it is able to generate sufficient funds to meet all of its financial commitments 
in a cost effective manner as they occur. These policies are annually reviewed and approved by the board. The internal Asset Liability Committee 
(ALCO) and AFRC review, on a regular basis, reporting on Alberta Central’s current and forecasted liquidity position as well as the composition 
and amount of liquid assets held within the investment portfolio. Stress testing is performed to assess the amount by which the level of liquid 
assets could decrease while continuing to meet regulatory requirements; the results of these stress tests are reported to the ALCO and AFRC on a 
regular basis. On a biennial basis, the board reviews and approves Alberta Central’s Stress Testing Policy. The primary purpose of the Stress Testing 
Policy, as it relates to liquidity, is to ensure that the organization maintains an adequate cushion of unencumbered high quality liquid assets held 
as insurance against a range of liquidity stress scenarios. This stress testing is also an important component in assessing Alberta Central’s formal 
liquidity contingency plans. The results of the stress tests are reported to the board annually. Alberta Central’s Liquidity Management Plan is 
subject to annual review and approval by the board and forms an important component of Alberta Central’s liquidity management framework. 
The board has approved risk appetite and tolerance statements pertaining to liquidity risk.
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RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Market Risk
Market risk is comprised of interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and other price risk.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that interest rate fluctuations may erode Alberta Central’s earnings or economic value. Alberta Central’s statement 
of financial position is comprised of interest-bearing assets and liabilities with different maturity dates, which expose Alberta Central to interest 
rate risk. Monitoring exposures to interest rate fluctuations and their potential impacts on interest margins is accomplished through interest rate 
scenario testing of assets, liabilities and equity against the effects of multiple possible interest rate increases and decreases. Alberta Central’s 
Investment Policy defines specific tolerances for changes in net interest income and net economic value. Gap analysis and simulation modeling 
is used to analyze the effects of interest rate fluctuations on net interest income. This forecasting is then used in developing defensive strategies, 
where appropriate, to ensure any variations are managed within established tolerance limits. The board has approved risk appetite and tolerance 
statements pertaining to interest rate risk.

Foreign Exchange Risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that Alberta Central’s earnings will be negatively affected by currency fluctuations. Alberta Central’s foreign 
exchange policies and procedures specifically identify the types of transactions permitted, authorizations, limits, and monitoring and reporting 
requirements. Alberta Central’s exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations is monitored on a daily basis. The board has approved risk appetite and 
tolerance statements pertaining to foreign exchange risk.

Other Price Risk
Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other 
than those arising from interest rate risk or foreign exchange risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial 
instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.

Alberta Central’s qualifying liquidity portfolio consists primarily of short-term, highly liquid, high investment grade credit quality securities. 
Business is restricted to activities that are understood and that can be accurately valued. Strong risk management is applied as it is expected 
by stakeholders, regulators and rating agencies to support investment risk. The board, on the recommendation of the AFRC, establishes written 
policies to ensure prudent investment standards are applied. Alberta Central’s Investment Policy is reviewed and approved by Alberta Central’s 
board annually. The policy is approved by Alberta Treasury Board and Finance (TBF) each year before being adopted by Alberta Central. Asset 
liability management is the responsibility of qualified treasury personnel with management oversight from an internal management committee, 
the ALCO, which reviews risk exposure at quarterly meetings. The board has approved risk appetite and tolerance statements pertaining to other 
price risk.

Credit Risk – Commercial Lending
Credit risk is the potential for loss due to the failure of a borrower or counterparty to meet its financial or contractual obligations. Alberta Central 
is exposed to credit risk in its lending operations and in its investment activities. Alberta Central’s lending and investment policies addressing 
credit risk are reviewed and approved annually by the board. Management regularly reviews credit procedures to ensure they provide relevant, 
appropriate guidance for the underwriting and administration of all types of loans. Alberta Central’s lending activity is predominantly to serve 
the needs of Alberta credit unions and their members. Alberta Central’s commercial lending activity is usually as a secondary syndication partner 
with credit unions; however, loans must meet Alberta Central’s lending criteria without reliance on the due diligence process of any syndication 
partner. Commercial lending credit decisions are the responsibility of qualified commercial lending personnel in conjunction with the internal 
Management Credit Committee. The board has approved risk appetite and tolerance statements pertaining to commercial lending credit risk.
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RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Credit Risk – Investments 
Alberta Central maintains high financial stewardship standards, ensuring that the investment portfolio consists of highly liquid, high investment 
grade credit quality that meets Alberta Central’s standards for quality including being recognized by credit rating agencies. Risk within the 
investment portfolio is managed by diversifying counterparty risk in the derivative portfolio and individual investments. Investments are restricted 
to securities that are understood and that can be accurately valued. Strong risk management is applied as it is expected by stakeholders, regulators 
and rating agencies to support investment risk. In the Investment Policy, the board sets out key requirements for ensuring appropriate risk limits 
in the investment portfolio. These include investment types, minimum quality standards, authority levels, and reporting requirements. The board 
has approved risk appetite and tolerance statements pertaining to investment credit risk.

Operational Risk
Operational risk includes risk associated with conducting the business operations of Alberta Central. It is the risk of loss arising from ineffective or 
failed internal processes, technology (including cyber security), human performance, or from external events. Its impact can be financial loss, loss 
of reputation, loss of competitive position or regulatory censure. Due to the nature of operational risk, it cannot be completely eliminated. Alberta 
Central manages operational risk through established policies and procedures and systems of internal controls. 

IT risk is a component of operational risk. Alberta Central has developed a separate IT risk management framework to enhance its ability to identify, 
measure and respond to IT and cyber risks.

While IT risk has been a component of operational risk since the inception of Alberta Central’s ERM framework, management recognized the 
changing levels of risk caused by increasing malicious activity in the environment and responded by broadening the assessment, treatment 
and reporting of IT risk. The IT risk management framework was operationalized in 2016 and has been effective in identifying, assessing and 
responding to IT/cyber risks. 

The board has approved risk appetite and tolerance statements pertaining to operational risk.

Strategic Risk
Strategic risk is the risk to Alberta Central’s earnings or capital arising from business decisions or flawed implementation of those decisions. This 
risk is a function of the compatibility between the organization’s strategic goals, the business strategies developed to achieve those goals, the 
resources deployed against these goals and the quality of implementation. Alberta Central employs a number of means in order to ensure that its 
strategic plans are appropriate and relevant. The board has approved risk appetite and tolerance statements pertaining to strategic risk.

Legal and Regulatory Risk
Legal and regulatory risk is the risk of loss due to failure to comply with legal and regulatory requirements. Alberta Central’s activities have been 
subject to reviews and periodic on-site regulatory examinations. Alberta Central’s Chief Compliance Officer maintains a legislative and regulatory 
compliance management system through which legislative and regulatory requirements are annually reviewed and reported. The effectiveness 
of the controls and processes are annually reviewed and reported to the AFRC by internal audit. New policies and procedures are developed to 
address legislative and regulatory requirements as appropriate. The board receives an annual compliance report in which any deficiencies and 
corresponding action plans are identified. The board has approved risk appetite and tolerance statements pertaining to legal and regulatory risk.

Corporate Governance Risk
Corporate governance risk is the risk of financial and/or reputational impairment caused by lack of effectiveness of the board and senior 
management. Alberta Central’s organizational structures, policies and controls are designed to provide effective corporate governance. Effective 
corporate governance is attained through the diligence of knowledgeable and competent directors and senior management and through 
ongoing succession planning for management leadership roles. The board has approved risk appetite and tolerance statements pertaining to 
corporate governance risk.

M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A LY S I S
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INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

There have been no changes in Alberta Central’s design of internal controls and procedures over financial reporting during the year ended 
December 31, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, Alberta Central’s internal control over financial 
reporting during the period covered by this MD&A.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in compliance with IFRS. The significant accounting policies used in preparation of 
the audited financial statements are described in Note 3. These accounting policies require management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses 
during the period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant areas of estimation uncertainty as described in Note 2(d) include 
those relating to the fair value of financial instruments, provisions for credit losses, assessment of the business model within which assets are held 
and whether contractual terms of cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.

M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  D I S C U S S I O N  A N D  A N A LY S I S
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MANAGEMENT OF CREDIT UNION CENTRAL ALBERTA LIMITED (ALBERTA CENTRAL) is responsible for the integrity and fair presentation of 
the financial information contained in this annual report. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and, where necessary, include amounts which are based on the best estimates and judgment of management. Financial 
information appearing throughout this annual report is consistent with the financial statements.

Alberta Central’s accounting and related financial controls are designed, and supporting procedures maintained, to provide reasonable assurance 
of the timely production of reliable and accurate financial information, the promotion of operational efficiency, that assets are safeguarded 
against loss from unauthorized use or disposition and liabilities are recognized. These supporting procedures include the careful selection and 
training of qualified staff, the establishment of organizational structures providing a well-defined division of responsibilities and accountability 
for performance, and the communication of policies and guidelines of business conduct and risk management throughout Alberta Central. 
The system of internal controls is further supported by a professional staff of internal auditors who conduct periodic inspections of all major 
aspects of Alberta Central’s operations. The internal auditors have full access to, and meet regularly with, the Audit, Finance & Risk Committee (the 
committee) of the board of directors to review and discuss the results of their work.

Regulators conduct examinations and make such enquiries into the business affairs of Alberta Central as they may deem necessary to satisfy 
themselves that the provisions of the appropriate legislation are being duly observed and that Alberta Central is in sound financial condition.

The committee, composed entirely of external directors, reviews the financial statements, including key management estimates and judgments 
material to the financial results before such financial statements are approved by the board of directors and submitted to the members of Alberta 
Central. The committee reviews the audit plans of the internal and external auditors, the results of their audits and management’s response to any 
identified recommendations for improvements in internal control. The committee is also responsible for recommending the appointment of the 
external auditors to the board of directors.

KPMG LLP, the independent auditors, have audited the financial statements of Alberta Central in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards and have expressed their opinion in the following report to the members. The auditors have full and unrestricted access to, and 
meet periodically with, the committee both in the presence and absence of management to discuss their audit and related findings.

M A N A G E M E N T ’ S  R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y  F O R 
F I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T I N G 

IAN BURNS
PRESIDENT AND CEO 

February 21, 2019

ANNE GILLESPIE 
CHIEF FINANCIAL AND GOVERNANCE OFFICER
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TO THE MEMBERS OF CREDIT UNION CENTRAL ALBERTA LIMITED

Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Credit Union Central Alberta Limited, which comprise:

• the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018

• the statement of income and comprehensive income for the year then ended

• the statement of members’ equity for the year then ended

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended

• and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies

(hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Credit Union Central Alberta 
Limited as at December 31, 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report. 

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada 
and we have fulfilled our other responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with IFRS and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting process.

I N D E P E N D E N T  A U D I T O R S ’  R E P O R T
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CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

Calgary, Canada
February 21, 2019 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 

procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made 
by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the group Entity 
to express an opinion on the financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.  
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

I N D E P E N D E N T  A U D I T O R S ’  R E P O R T
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2018 2017

(thousands of dollars)

Financial income

Interest on securities 48,546 27,723

Interest on loans 7,823 7,817

56,369 35,540

Financial expenses

Interest on members’ deposits 37,596 20,395

Interest on loans and notes payable 4,256 1,772

41,852 22,167

Net interest income 14,517 13,373

Provision for credit losses (Note 9) (1,622) (1,022)

Net interest income after provision for credit losses 12,895 12,351

Operating revenues (Note 4) 25,449 24,388

Operating expenses (Note 4) (28,749) (28,517)

Earnings from equity method investments (Note 8) 2,040 1,161

Income before income taxes 11,635 9,383

Income taxes (Note 6)

Current income tax expense 4,102 4,432

Deferred income tax (recovery) (992) (2,299)

3,110 2,133

Net income 8,525 7,250

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Items that will never be reclassified to net income:

Remeasurements of net defined benefit pension asset or liability (net of income tax (recovery) of $65; 2017 – ($81)) 218 (268)

Change in unrealized gains on equity securities at FVOCI (net of income tax of $707) (Note 7) 5,271 -

Items that are or may be reclassified to net income:

Change in unrealized gains on debt securities at FVOCI (net of income tax of $747) (Note 7) 2,247 -

Change in unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities (net of income tax of $1,819) (Note 7) - 15,590

Reclassification adjustments for realized gains (losses) on debt securities at FVOCI (net of income tax (recovery) of ($177); 

2017 – ($37)) (558) (117)

7,178 15,205

Comprehensive income 15,703 22,455

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

S TAT E M E N T  O F  I N C O M E  A N D 
C O M P R E H E N S I V E  I N C O M E
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DECEMBER 31 2018 2017

(thousands of dollars)

Assets

Cash (Note 19a) 78,555 17,218

Securities (Note 7) 2,743,665 2,727,176

Loans (Note 9) 348,856 246,746

Derivative financial assets (Note 19) 10,962 18,540

Other assets (Note 10) 50,055 75,555

3,232,093 3,085,235

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 8,656 7,651

Members’ deposits (Note 12) 2,371,421 2,384,275

Notes payable and other liabilities (Note 13) 509,450 347,111

Derivative financial liabilities (Note 19) 10,962 18,540

2,900,489 2,757,577

Members’ Equity

Common share capital (Note 14) 248,585 246,015

Retained earnings 60,199 66,001

Accumulated other comprehensive income 22,820 15,642

331,604 327,658

3,232,093 3,085,235

Commitments (Note 16)

Events after the reporting date (Note 22)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Approved by the board of directors

BRETT OLAND
CHAIR, BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

PAUL KELLY
CHAIR, AUDIT, FINANCE & RISK COMMITTEE

S TAT E M E N T  O F  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N
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SHARE
CAPITAL

RETAINED 
EARNINGS

ACCUMULATED 
OTHER 

COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME

TOTAL 
EQUITY

(thousands of dollars)

Balance at January 1, 2017 244,084 70,899 437 315,420

Net income - 7,250 - 7,250

Change in realized and unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale 

securities (net of income tax of $1,782) - - 15,473 15,473

Remeasurements of net defined benefit pension asset or liability 

(net of income tax (recovery) of ($81)) - - (268) (268)

Issue of share capital (Note 14) 1,931 - - 1,931

Share capital dividends (net of income tax (recovery) of ($3,932)) (Note 15) - (12,148) - (12,148)

Balance as at December 31, 2017 246,015 66,001 15,642 327,658

Impact of adopting IFRS 9 at January 1, 2018 (Note 3) - (255) - (255)

Impact of Celero adopting IFRS 15 at January 1, 2018 (Note 3) - (626) - (626)

Adjusted balance as at January 1, 2018 246,015 65,120 15,642 326,777

Net income - 8,525 - 8,525

Change in realized and unrealized gains and losses on securities at 

FVOCI (net of income tax of $1,277) - - 6,960 6,960

Remeasurements of net defined benefit pension asset or liability 

(net of income tax of $65) - - 218 218

Issue of share capital, net (Note 14) 2,570 - - 2,570

Share capital dividends (net of income tax (recovery) of ($4,622)) (Note 15) - (13,446) - (13,446)

Balance as at December 31, 2018 248,585 60,199 22,820 331,604

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

S TAT E M E N T  O F  M E M B E R S ’  E Q U I T Y
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2018 2017

(thousands of dollars)

Cash resources provided by (used in):

Operating activities

Net income 8,525 7,250

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 787 874

Accrued interest on impaired loans (252) (305)

Provision for credit losses (Note 9) 1,622 1,022

Deferred taxes (992) (2,299)

Net interest income (14,517) (13,373)

Interest received 58,033 32,872

Interest paid on deposits (39,176) (19,406)

Earnings in equity method investments (Note 8) (2,040) (1,161)

11,990 5,474

Changes in non-cash operating components

Cash in transit and other assets 49,273 (16,887)

Items in transit 1,906 74,162

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 5,602 5,672

Decrease in members’ deposits (11,274) (13,753)

Net increase in loans (103,299) (18,305)

Income taxes refunded (paid) 799 (1,641)

(45,003) 34,722

Financing activities

Increase (decrease) in notes payable 160,032 (73,001)

Interest paid on loans and notes payable (3,853) (1,784)

Issuance of share capital, net of redemptions 2,570 1,931

Payment of share capital dividends (18,068) (16,080)

140,681 (88,934)

Investing activities

Sale (purchase) of securities (34,852) 60,321

Distribution of prior year net income from equity method investments 644 550

Acquisition of capital and intangible assets (133) (178)

(34,341) 60,693

Increase in cash resources 61,337 6,481

Cash, beginning of year 17,218 10,737

Cash, end of year 1 78,555 17,218

1 Cash includes pledged cash of $5,610 (2017 – $5,610) (Note 19a), and $50,262 (2017 – $6,461) held in US denominations ($68,543 CDN equivalent (2017 – $8,105)) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

S TAT E M E N T  O F  C A S H  F L O W S
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Credit Union Central Alberta Limited (operating as Alberta Central) is a limited liability company and is incorporated and domiciled in Canada. 
Alberta Central is governed by the Credit Union Act of Alberta. Alberta Central is provincially regulated by Alberta Treasury Board & Finance 
(Alberta TBF). 

The address of its registered office is:
350N, 8500 Macleod Trail S.E.
Calgary, Alberta

Alberta Central is the liquidity and payments manager and trade association for credit unions in Alberta. Alberta Central’s financial statements 
comprise the accounts of Alberta Central and its proportionate share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of its joint arrangement, 
Credit Union Payment Services (CUPS). CUPS provides payment services and related support services to the members of its owners, Alberta 
Central (50 percent), and SaskCentral (50 percent) as well as to other organizations. The financial statements also comprise Alberta Central’s 
equity share of the income of its significantly influenced associates, Celero Solutions (Celero) and CU CUMIS Wealth Holdings LP (CU CUMIS). 
Celero provides information technology services to credit unions, its owners, Alberta Central (33.3 percent), SaskCentral (33.3 percent) and 
Manitoba Central (33.3 percent), and to other organizations. The registered place of business for both CUPS and Celero is Calgary, Alberta. CU 
CUMIS is a partnership of the CUMIS Group Limited and five provincial credit union centrals – Atlantic Central, Central 1 Credit Union, Manitoba 
Central, SaskCentral and Alberta Central. CU CUMIS holds a 50 percent interest in Aviso Wealth Inc., a wealth management company, created in 
2018 through a merger of Credential Financial Inc. (Credential), QTrade Canada Inc., and NEI Investments (NEI). The registered place of business 
for CU CUMIS is Toronto, Ontario.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

a) Statement of compliance
Alberta Central prepares its financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). See changes to accounting policies in Note 3, regarding Alberta Central’s transition to IFRS 
9 and IFRS 15.

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the board of directors on February 21, 2019. 

b) Basis of measurement
Adopted January 1, 2018, IFRS 9 contains a classification and measurement approach for financial assets that reflects the business model in 
which assets are managed and their cash flow characteristics. There are three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured 
at amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The standard 
eliminates the previous International Accounting Standards (IAS) 39 categories of held to maturity, held-for-trading, loans and receivables 
and available-for-sale. 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for the following material items:

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)

N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S 

ITEMS MEASUREMENT BASIS

Financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL Fair value

Financial assets at FVOCI (applicable from January 1, 2018) Fair value

Available-for-sale financial assets (applicable before January 1, 2018) Fair value

Held-for-trading financial assets (applicable before January 1, 2018) Fair value

Net defined benefit pension plan asset (liability) Fair value of plan assets less the present value of the defined benefit obligation, as 

explained in Note 5



ALBERTA CENTRAL  2018 Annual Report31

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
 

c) Currency
The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is Alberta Central’s functional currency.

d) Significant estimates and assumptions
The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions 
that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates. Estimates, judgments and assumptions are evaluated on a continuous basis, and are based on past experiences 
and other factors, including expectations with regard to future events. Revisions to accounting judgments and estimates are recognized in 
the period in which the judgments or estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. Areas of judgment and estimation uncertainty 
that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year are described below.

Provision for credit losses 
IFRS 9 (and, prior to January 1, 2018, IAS 39) require estimates and assumptions to be made by management in determining provisions for 
credit losses. Management must make assumptions regarding the creditworthiness of individual borrowers, the timing of receipt of future 
cash flows (repayment from the borrowers), and estimate the net realizable value and timing of the realization of the collateral underlying 
the loan. All commercial lending activity is undertaken on a syndicated basis with credit unions where the credit union typically functions as 
the lead lender. 

IFRS 9 replaces the incurred loss model of IAS 39 with a forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) model. Assessment of whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial recognition, and the incorporation of forward-looking information in the 
measurement of ECL, requires considerable judgement (Note 3c).

Business model and solely payments of principal and interest assessment
To determine the classification of financial assets, management uses judgment to assess the business model within which the assets are 
held and whether contractual terms of the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding 
(Note 3b). 

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments where no active market exists, or where quoted prices are not otherwise available, is determined using 
valuation techniques. In these cases, the fair value is estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial instruments or using 
models. Where market observable inputs are not available, they are estimated based on appropriate assumptions regarding credit risk, 
market liquidity and timing of future cash flows. The use of valuation techniques in calculating the fair value of Alberta Central’s investments 
in equity securities in cooperative enterprises is discussed further in Note 20.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Changes to accounting policies 
Alberta Central has adopted IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” with an initial application 
date of January 1, 2018. 

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. The new standard brings fundamental changes to the 
accounting for financial assets and to certain aspects of the accounting for financial liabilities. 

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)

N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The standard was effective January 1, 2018 and was applied on a retrospective basis, except that, as permitted under the standard, Alberta 
Central has elected to adopt the standard without restatement of comparative figures; the transition adjustments arising on January 1, 2018 
are presented as an adjustment to opening retained earnings. Alberta Central’s transitional adjustment upon the adoption of IFRS 9 was a 
reduction in retained earnings of $255 after tax, to reflect the impact of provisions or expected credit losses under the new standard.

IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” 
IFRS 15 applies to all contracts with customers but excludes, amongst others, financial instruments and other contractual rights and obligations 
within the scope of IFRS 9. Alberta Central’s interest revenues fall within the scope of IFRS 9 and are exempt from the requirements of IFRS 15. 

Management adopted IFRS 15 effective January 1, 2018 using the cumulative effect method. The new standard applies to Alberta Central’s 
operating revenue (Note 4) and investment in Celero (Note 8). There is no material change to the timing or measurement of operating revenues 
under the new standard as compared to Alberta Central’s previous revenue recognition accounting policies. Celero’s revenue recognition 
policies were impacted by the adoption of IFRS 15, resulting in a reduction of $626 in Alberta Central’s opening retained earnings. 

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are summarized below and have been consistently 
applied to all years presented, except where otherwise noted.

a) Revenue recognition
Interest income on loans and securities is recognized in profit and loss using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to its net carrying amount. For 
credit-impaired financial assets, effective interest rate is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset less expected 
credit loss. 

Revenues that fall within the requirements of IFRS 15 are comprised primarily of payment processing, procurement services, cash services, 
and membership dues. Payment processing, procurement and cash services are sold at fixed unit prices over the term of the contract and 
the related performance obligations are satisfied at the point in time in which the services are rendered to the customer. Membership dues 
are provided at fixed prices established annually and the related performance obligations are satisfied over time. 

b) Financial assets and liabilities 
All financial assets are classified as FVTPL, FVOCI – debt securities, FVOCI – equity securities or amortized cost. All financial liabilities are 
classified as FVTPL or amortized cost. Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when Alberta Central becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Alberta Central uses settlement date accounting for regular-way trades, which are purchases or sales of financial 
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Business model and solely payments of principal and interest assessment
Alberta Central’s debt securities portfolio is held within a business model where the objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling financial assets to meet liquidity needs as they arise. As the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest, these financial assets are measured at FVOCI, which is consistent with 
Alberta Central’s classification of its debt securities under IAS 39 prior to January 1, 2018. However, Alberta Central may designate any financial 
asset or liability as FVTPL if certain specified conditions are met. 

To determine the classification of financial assets, management completes an assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely 
payments of principal and interest. For the purposes of this assessment, “principal” is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial 
recognition. “Interest” is defined as consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated with the principal amount 
outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs, as well as profit margin.

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)

N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, management considers the contractual terms 
of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount 
of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition.

Alberta Central makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a segmented portfolio level because 
this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. Portfolio segments differ primarily in strategy 
and objective resulting in a requirement to treat certain security pools differently. The information considered includes the stated policies and 
objectives for the portfolio segment and the operation of those policies in practice. In particular, it considers whether management’s strategy 
focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining interest rate profile, maintaining a liquidity pool, matching the duration of 
financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realizing cash flows through the sale of those assets.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
A financial asset is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

• the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial 
assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt securities classified as FVOCI are initially and subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the effective interest 
method, foreign exchange gains and losses, and impairment are recognized in net income. Other net gains and losses are recognized in other 
comprehensive income (OCI). On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI related to debt securities are reclassified to net income. 

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, Alberta Central may irrevocably elect to present subsequent 
changes in fair value through OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. Alberta Central has made this election for 
certain equity securities (Note 7). Accordingly, gains and losses accumulated in OCI related to equity securities are not reclassified to net 
income.

Amortized cost
Financial assets classified as amortized cost are instruments which have contractual terms that give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows 
that are solely payments of principal and interest with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that are held within a business 
model with the objective of collecting contractual cash flows. Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost unless they are classified as 
FVTPL. Financial assets and liabilities classified as amortized cost are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method.

Alberta Central has classified cash, loans, accounts receivable, items in transit, certain debt securities, members’ deposits, accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities, and notes payable and other liabilities, as amortized cost. 

Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
All financial assets or liabilities not valued through FVOCI or amortized cost are classified as measured at FVTPL. In addition, on initial 
recognition, management may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortized 
cost, or at FVOCI, as at FVTPL, if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. Derivative 
instruments must be classified as FVTPL unless they are designated as an effective hedging instrument. Alberta Central has classified 
derivative financial assets and derivative financial liabilities as FVTPL. 

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated other comprehensive income is included on the statement of financial position as a separate component of members’ equity 
and includes re-measurements of the net defined benefit pension asset or liability and unrealized gains (losses) on both equity and debt 
securities designated as FVOCI.

Transaction costs
Transaction costs are expensed as incurred for financial instruments classified or designated as FVTPL and are capitalized upon initial 
recognition for all other financial instruments.

Determination of fair value
For financial instruments traded in an active market, fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. 
A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available and those prices represent 
actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. Where independent quoted market prices are not available, 
fair value is determined by reference to recent arm’s length market transactions for similar instruments, the current fair value of other 
instruments having substantially the same terms, conditions and risk characteristics or through the use of other valuation techniques. For 
equity investments, fair value may be best represented by par value of the shares, if equal to redemption value, or cost, if cost represents the 
best estimate of fair value.

With the use of valuation techniques, fair value is estimated from observable data in respect to similar financial instruments, using models to 
estimate the present value of expected future cash flows or other valuation techniques, using inputs existing at the date of the statement of 
financial position. Alberta Central uses valuation techniques primarily to value its derivatives and certain equity investments. 

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from these assets have ceased to exist or substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets have been transferred. Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation has been 
discharged, cancelled or expired.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the sum of the consideration received 
and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized in OCI is recognized in profit or loss. From January 1, 2018 any cumulative gain/
loss recognized in OCI in respect to equity investment securities designated as FVOCI is not recognized in profit or loss on derecognition.

c) Provision for credit losses
Impairment and provisions for expected credit losses 
Alberta Central reviews its financial assets that are not measured at FVTPL, for impairment on a quarterly and annual basis in compliance 
with IFRS. The expected loss impairment model is based on a forward-looking approach and contains a three-stage methodology to evaluate 
changes in credit risk since initial recognition. For assets where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition 
(stage one), a loss provision equal to 12 months expected credit losses is recognized. If credit risk increases significantly from initial recognition 
(stage two) or if a financial asset is considered credit impaired (stage three), a loss provision equal to the lifetime expected credit losses is 
recognized.

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. The key inputs into the measurement of ECL, regardless of the presence of SICR are 
the following variables:

• probability of default (PD)
• loss given default (LGD)
• exposure at default (EAD)

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

These parameters are derived from internally developed statistical models and other historical data, which are adjusted to reflect forward-
looking information.

PD estimates at the reporting date are calculated based on statistical rating models, and assessed using rating tools tailored to the various 
categories of counterparties and exposures. 

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if a default occurs. Alberta Central estimates LGD parameters based on the value of security held for 
each asset (if applicable) compared to the exposure at default as well as historic experience with distressed sale discounts and costs to sell 
upon security realization. LGD estimates are recalibrated for different economic scenarios to reflect possible changes in property prices. 

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. Alberta Central derives the EAD from the current exposure to the counterparty. 

Significant increase in credit risk
When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, Alberta Central 
considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information 
and analysis, based on Alberta Central’s historical experience and credit risk assessment from qualified personnel, and from forward-looking 
information.

The objective of the assessment is to identify whether SICR has occurred for an exposure by comparing:
• remaining lifetime PD as at the reporting date; with
• remaining lifetime PD estimated at the time of initial recognition of the exposure.

The criteria for determining whether SICR has occurred include quantitative changes in PDs and qualitative factors, including payment 
delinquency. Using credit judgment and, where possible, relevant historical experience, Alberta Central may determine that an exposure has 
undergone a significant increase in credit risk based on particular qualitative indicators that it considers are indicative of such and whose 
effect may not otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis on a timely basis.

Alberta Central considers an asset to be credit impaired when an asset is more than 30 days past due, subject to other qualitative considerations 
or is in default. Alberta Central considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations in full, 
without recourse by Alberta Central to actions such as realizing security. 

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary over time to reflect changes in 
circumstances.

Incorporation of forward-looking information
Alberta Central incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased 
significantly since its initial recognition and its measurement of ECL. External information includes economic data and forecasts published 
by government bodies and monetary authorities in Canada.

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)

N O T E S  T O  T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S 



ALBERTA CENTRAL  2018 Annual Report36

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

d) Personnel
Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits include all benefits and payments made on behalf of Alberta Central personnel including wages, salaries, 
vacation, medical and dental benefits and short-term incentive compensation, and are expensed as the related service is provided. A 
liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term incentive plans provided Alberta Central has a present legal or 
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be reliably estimated.

Post-employment benefits
Alberta Central’s post-employment benefit program consists of both a defined contribution and defined benefit pension plan. 

i. Defined contribution pension plan
Alberta Central contributes annually to a defined contribution pension plan for employees. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan 
under which Alberta Central pays fixed contributions to a third party and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. 
The contributions are recognized as personnel expense when they are due in respect of service rendered to the end of the reporting 
period.

ii. Defined benefit pension plan
The defined benefit pension plan is a pension plan for certain executive management. A defined benefit pension plan defines an 
amount of pension benefit that an executive will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors, such as age, years of 
service and compensation.

The amount of the defined benefit asset or liability recognized in the statement of financial position is equal to the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation as at the year-end reduced by the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated by 
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by 
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in Canadian 
dollars, and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension asset or liability. Re-measurements of the net 
defined benefit asset or liability, which comprise actuarial gains (losses) and the return on plan assets, are recognized immediately in 
other comprehensive income in the statement of income and comprehensive income. Alberta Central determines the net interest 
income or expense on the net defined benefit asset or liability for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the 
defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the year to the net defined benefit asset or liability. The net interest income or expense 
is recognized in financial income (expenses) and current service costs are recognized in personnel expense within operating expenses 
in the statement of income and comprehensive income.

Long-term employee benefits
Alberta Central’s obligation under a long-term incentive plan for executive management is accrued within accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities on the statement of financial position as services are rendered.

e) Income taxes
Income tax expense comprises both current and deferred income tax.

Current income tax
Current income tax is the expected tax payable (receivable) on the taxable income for the year. It is calculated on the basis of the applicable 
tax law in Alberta using rates enacted or substantively enacted at year-end. Current income tax is recognized as an expense (recovery) in the 
statement of income and comprehensive income except to the extent it relates to items that are charged (credited) in other comprehensive 
income or directly to equity. In such circumstances, it is charged (credited) to other comprehensive income or equity.

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Deferred income tax
Alberta Central follows the asset and liability method of accounting for deferred income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are recognized on temporary differences arising between the financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and 
their respective tax bases. The deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates that are 
expected to be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and other temporary differences when it is probable that future taxable 
income will be available against which these temporary differences can be utilized. 

Any changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities during the year are reflected in income tax expense on the statement of income and 
comprehensive income unless they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income, or equity.

f) Foreign currency translation
Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated into Canadian dollars using exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are translated into Canadian dollars using the closing rate as at the reporting 
date. Foreign currency differences arising on translation of foreign currency transactions and monetary items are recognized in net income.

g) Cash 
Cash consists of cash and restricted cash pledged as described in Note 19a.

h) Equity method investments 
Alberta Central uses the equity method to account for Celero and CU CUMIS over which it exercises significant influence. Significant influence 
is the power to participate in, but not control or jointly control, the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee. Under this method, 
the investment is initially recognized at cost and is adjusted for Alberta Central’s share of income and distributions received from the investee. 
The investment is written down to recognize losses, if any, in its value. Alberta Central assesses impairment of its investments in Celero and 
CU CUMIS on an annual basis and losses, if any, are recognized in the statement of income and comprehensive income.

For transactions and events sharing similar circumstances, consistent accounting policies are used to ensure comparability when preparing 
the financial statements. Financial information for Celero and CU CUMIS is included in Note 8.

i) Investment in CUPS
Alberta Central has a 50 percent interest in the CUPS joint arrangement. Alberta Central has joint control over the CUPS joint arrangement 
as it has 50 percent representation in the governance structure and all decisions require a majority vote. As CUPS is legally structured as 
an unincorporated entity, its assets and liabilities are primarily those of the parties to the joint arrangement. Accordingly, Alberta Central 
accounts for its investment in CUPS as a joint operation, and its proportionate share of CUPS’ assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses are 
combined with similar items, line by line, in its financial statements. Intercompany gains on transactions between Alberta Central and the 
joint operation are eliminated to the extent of Alberta Central’s interest in the joint operation. Intercompany losses are also eliminated unless 
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

j) Capital and intangible assets
Capital assets are recognized at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Intangible assets consist of acquired operating software 
assets recognized at historical cost less accumulated amortization. Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset. Depreciation and amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Computer hardware and equipment   3 years
Furniture     10 years
Leasehold improvements   Term of the lease to 2021
Intangible assets    3-5 years

Depreciation commences on capital assets once the assets are available for use. The residual values and useful lives of the capital assets are 
reviewed, reassessed and adjusted, if appropriate, each reporting period.

Capital and intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Fair value is estimated 
based on recent transactions for similar assets within the same industry. Value in use is estimated based on discounted net cash flows from 
the continuing use and ultimate disposal of an asset. 

k) Dividends
Share dividends on Alberta Central’s member shares are recognized in equity in the period in which they are declared by Alberta Central’s 
board of directors.

l) Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. 
Payments made under operating leases, net of any incentives received from the lessor, are charged to the statement of income and 
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

m) Derivative instruments
Alberta Central enters into various derivatives in the normal course of business, including interest rate swaps, index linked options, bond 
forwards and foreign-exchange swaps. Alberta Central uses such instruments to meet the needs of member credit unions and to assist in its 
own risk management program. 

Derivative instruments are classified as FVTPL and measured at fair value in the statement of financial position with changes in fair value 
recognized in net income.
 

n) Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2019 and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. 

IFRS 16 – “Leases” 
The new standard replaces IAS 17 “Leases” and establishes principles for the recognition, presentation, and measurement of leases for both 
lessees and lessors. From the perspective of the lessee, the new standard requires the recognition of lease assets and lease liabilities on the 
balance sheet for most leases. Lessees will also recognize depreciation expense on lease assets as well as interest expense on lease liabilities 
in the statement of income. IFRS 16 applies only to contractual lease components and excludes any specific service elements. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The standard was issued by the IASB in 2016, with implementation effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Alberta 
Central has elected to adopt the standard without restatement of comparative figures; any transition adjustments arising on January 1, 2019 
will be presented as adjustments to opening retained earnings, assets and liabilities as applicable. Alberta Central’s preliminary transitional 
adjustment upon the adoption of IFRS 16 is estimated to be an increase to leased assets and leased liabilities of approximately $4,000 to 
reflect the impact of accounting for Alberta Central’s premises lease under the new standard.

4. OPERATING REVENUES AND OPERATING EXPENSES

2018 2017

Operating revenues

 Credit Union Payment Services (CUPS) 12,231 11,863

 Member dues 4,282 3,926

 Financial and ancillary services 3,955 3,655

 Other 4,981 4,944

25,449 24,388

Operating expenses

 Personnel 11,831 12,081

 Administration and other 11,705 11,192

 Property and equipment 4,353 4,525

 Organization 860 719

28,749 28,517

Included within financial and ancillary services operating revenue is $742 (2017 – $259) of foreign exchange gains. Other revenues includes 
administrative and facilities services charged to CUPS and Celero of $4,134 (2017 – $4,215). Operating expenses include $11,076 (2017 – $11,273) 
relating to Alberta Central’s share of CUPS’ expenses. 

5. PENSION PLANS 

a) Defined contribution pension plan
Alberta Central contributes annually to a defined contribution pension plan for employees. The annual pension expense of $473 (2017 – $454) 
is included in personnel expense (Note 4).

b) Defined benefit pension plan
Alberta Central also contributes annually to a defined benefit pension plan for certain executive management which qualifies as a retirement 
compensation arrangement under the Income Tax Act. This plan is fully funded by Alberta Central. Concentra Trust is the custodian of the 
plan. An actuarial valuation of the defined benefit obligation was performed as of December 31, 2016 and extrapolated to December 31, 2018.
The fair value of plan assets and defined benefit obligation is as follows:

2018 2017

Fair value of plan assets, consisting of government debt securities, end of year 6,292 6,165

Defined benefit obligation, end of year 3,942 4,266

Pension surplus (Note 10) 2,350 1,899

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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5. PENSION PLANS (CONTINUED)

The amounts recognized in the statement of income and comprehensive income on a before-tax basis are as follows:

2018 2017

Included in net income:

Current service cost (109) (195)

Net interest income 68 58

(41) (137)

Included in other comprehensive income:

Actuarial gains (losses) arising from experience adjustments and changes in financial assumptions 448 (142)

Remeasurements of defined benefit pension asset (165) (207)

283 (349)

6. INCOME TAXES

The combined federal and provincial substantively enacted income tax rate applicable to Alberta Central is 25.2 percent (2017 – 24.4 percent). 
Income taxes calculated at substantively enacted rates differ from the provision included in the statement of income and comprehensive 
income for the following reasons:

2018 2017

Income taxes at substantively enacted rates 2,932 2,292

Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:

Impact of rate changes on temporary differences (156) (15)

Non-deductible items and permanent differences on equity investments (159) (46)

Other 493 (98)

Provision for income taxes 3,110 2,133

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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7. SECURITIES

As at December 31, 2018, $202,202 (2017 – $261,902) of securities were pledged to Central 1 under the terms of the Credit Union System Group 
Clearing Agreement (Note 13) and are restricted from Alberta Central’s use. 

2017 CLASSIFICATION 
– IAS 39

2018 CLASSIFICATION 
– IFRS 9 2018 2017

Government – provincial Available-for-sale FVOCI – debt securities 549,149 505,019

Government – federal Available-for-sale FVOCI – debt securities 31,353 -

Total Government 580,502 505,019

Corporate – banks Available-for-sale FVOCI – debt securities 1,527,648 1,549,987

Corporate – other Available-for-sale FVOCI – debt securities 553,100 573,472

Total Corporate 2,080,748 2,123,459

Amounts on deposit with government 

guaranteed financial institution Available-for-sale FVOCI – debt securities 62,268 60,852

Central 1 subordinated debt Loans and receivables Amortized Cost 7,000 7,000

Equity investments in cooperative entities (Note 20) Available-for-sale FVOCI – equity securities1 9,930 25,700

Mortgage pooling funds Loans and receivables Amortized Cost - 84

Total Other 79,198 93,636

Totals

FVOCI 2,733,448 -

Amortized Cost 7,000 -

Available-for-sale - 2,715,030

Loans and receivables - 7,084

2,740,448 2,722,114

Accrued interest receivable 3,217 5,062

2,743,665 2,727,176

1 Equity investments held in cooperative entities are classified as FVOCI by irrevocable designation upon IFRS 9 transition (Note 3) on January 1, 2018.

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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8. EQUITY METHOD INVESTMENTS

Celero Solutions
Alberta Central has a 33.3 percent interest in Celero. While Celero is legally structured as a joint venture, it does not qualify as such for accounting 
purposes as Alberta Central does not have joint control. Joint control is not achieved as Alberta Central representatives hold two of six positions 
in Celero’s governance structure. Accordingly, Alberta Central accounts for its investment in Celero using the equity method. Under the terms 
of the Joint Venture Agreement and as directed by Celero’s governing body, the net income of Celero is distributed to (contributed by) Alberta 
Central in proportion to its ownership interest in Celero (Note 10).

Summarized financial information of Celero is as follows:

Alberta Central is liable in proportion to its ownership interest in Celero, for all of Celero’s covenants and obligations.

CU CUMIS Wealth Holdings LP
Alberta Central has an 8.71 percent interest in CU CUMIS. Based on the governance structure, Alberta Central exercises significant influence over 
CU CUMIS and accounts for the investment using the equity method (Note 10). 

Summarized financial information of CU CUMIS is as follows:

2018 2017

Current assets 18,604 13,754

Non-current assets 20,800 20,189

Current liabilities 13,439 11,464

Non-current liabilities 9,631 8,995

Revenue 80,427 76,099

Income before equity income in Everlink 3,471 1,930

Net income and comprehensive income 6,659 3,485

2018 2017

Current assets 20 -

Non-current assets 102,190 -

Current liabilities 427 -

Share of Aviso Wealth net income 2,755 -

Net income 2,337 -

Comprehensive income 2,057 -

The movement in Alberta Central’s interest in Celero during the year was as follows:

2018 2017

Carrying value at January 1 4,515 3,904

Adoption of IFRS 15 (Note 3) (626) -

Share of Celero’s net income and comprehensive income 2,220 1,161

Share of distribution of Celero’s prior year net income and comprehensive income (644) (550)

Carrying value as at December 31 5,465 4,515

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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9. LOANS

2018 2017

Credit unions 144,326 45,565

Commercial loans and mortgages 201,213 194,564

Employee mortgages 5,984 6,087

Celero (Note 17) 2,711 2,711

Cooperatives - 1,656

354,234 250,583

Accrued interest receivable 890 709

355,124 251,292

Less allowances on commercial loans and mortgages:

ECL (from January 1, 2018) (6,268) -

Impairment allowance (to December 31, 2017) - (4,546)

348,856 246,746

To December 31, 2017
Alberta Central’s commercial loans and mortgages portfolio included $22,601 in impaired loans. 

From January 1, 2018
Alberta Central’s commercial loans and mortgages portfolio includes $21,926 in credit-impaired, stage 3, loans, and $30,414 in non credit-
impaired, stage 2, loans for which a lifetime ECL is calculated (Note 3).

8. EQUITY METHOD INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

The movement in Alberta Central’s interest in CU CUMIS during the year was as follows:

2018 2017

Fair value of CU CUMIS at acquisition (Note 10) 23,439 -

Share of CU CUMIS’ net income (loss)1 (180) -

Share of CU CUMIS’ comprehensive income (loss) (24) -

Carrying value as at December 31 23,235 -

1 The difference between the carrying value of $23,235 and Alberta Central’s share of CU CUMIS’ net assets of $8,865 is attributable to intangible assets. Share of 

CU CUMIS’ net income (loss) is net of amortization of fair value allocation to intangible assets acquired in the transaction. 
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9. LOANS (CONTINUED)

The following is a reconciliation of the impairment allowance on commercial loans and mortgages. Comparative amounts for 2017 represent 
allowances for credit losses and reflect measurement under IAS 39. Balances as at December 31, 2017 have been adjusted to reflect IFRS 9 
transitional requirements (Note 3) as at January 1, 2018 with differences recorded to retained earnings in members’ equity.

10. OTHER ASSETS

2018 2017

Items in transit 13,637 59,898

Investment in Celero – equity method (Note 8) 5,465 4,515

Investment in CU CUMIS – equity method (Note 8) 23,235 -

Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses 2,458 5,897

Capital and intangible assets (Note 11) 2,160 2,814

Pension surplus (Note 5) 2,350 1,899

Deferred income tax asset 750 532

50,055 75,555

2018 2017

12-MONTH 
ECL

(STAGE 1)

LIFETIME 
ECL NOT 
CREDIT-

IMPAIRED 
(STAGE 2)

LIFETIME 
ECL CREDIT-

IMPAIRED
(STAGE 3) TOTAL SPECIFIC

NON- 
SPECIFIC TOTAL

Balance as at January 1, 2017 - - - - 1,501 1,900 3,401

Decrease in non-specific loan loss provision - - - - - (650) (650)

Increase in specific loan loss provision - - - - 1,672 - 1,672

Reclassification of provision for loan fees - - - - 123 - 123

Balance, December 31, 2017 - - - - 3,296 1,250 4,546

Remeasurement adjustments (Note 3) - 100 - 100 - - -

Balance as at January 1, 2018 27 1,323 3,296 4,646 - - -

Transfer from 12-month ECL (7) - - (7) - - -

Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit-impaired - 7 - 7 - - -

Provision for impairment loss on financial assets - - 1,622 1,622 - - -

Balance as at December 31, 2018 20 1,330 4,918 6,268 - - -

During 2018, Alberta Central, in partnership with four other provincial credit union centrals (the Centrals) and The CUMIS Group (CUMIS), under 
an agreement with Desjardins Group (Desjardins) merged the businesses of their wealth management investees, Credential, Qtrade Canada 
Inc. and NEI. The new entity, Aviso Wealth, is jointly and equally owned by Desjardins and a limited partnership, CU CUMIS, comprised of the 
Centrals and CUMIS. 

Prior to the transaction closing date on April 1, 2018, Alberta Central had a 6.53 percent interest in each of Credential and NEI, classified as FVOCI 
(Note 7 and 20), which interests were exchanged for an 8.71 percent ownership in the limited partnership. Based on estimates of fair value 
derived from the transaction, Alberta Central recorded an increase in the carrying value of NEI and Credential of $19,939 during 2017 and $1,333 
in 2018; these increases were recorded net of tax through other comprehensive income. At acquisition Alberta Central’s interest in the limited 
partnership was recorded at fair value of $23,439 (Note 8).

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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2018 2017

Current accounts and demand deposits 113,425 126,993

Money market deposits 309,010 461,966

Statutory liquidity deposits 1,943,711 1,791,621

2,366,146 2,380,580

Accrued interest payable 5,275 3,695

2,371,421 2,384,275

11. CAPITAL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Depreciation/amortization expense of $787 (2017 – $874) is included in property and equipment expense (Note 4). Capital purchases during the 
year were $133 (2017 – $178). Asset retirements totaled $nil (2017 – $949).

12. MEMBERS’ DEPOSITS

Alberta credit unions are required by Alberta Central’s bylaws to maintain nine percent of their liabilities in statutory liquidity deposits and 
common share capital (Note 14) of Alberta Central.

COMPUTER 
HARDWARE AND 

EQUIPMENT 
LEASEHOLD

IMPROVEMENTS FURNITURE INTANGIBLE ASSETS TOTAL

As at December 31, 2018

Cost 2,203 6,902 1,385 3,922 14,412

Accumulated depreciation/amortization (2,030) (5,837) (580) (3,805) (12,252)

Net book value 173 1,065 805 117 2,160

As at December 31, 2017

Cost 2,144 6,867 1,345 3,923 14,279

Accumulated depreciation/amortization (1,880) (5,491) (444) (3,650) (11,465)

Net book value 264 1,376 901 273 2,814

2018 2017

Commercial paper 341,353 180,919

Line of credit 87,640 17,832

Items in transit 80,457 148,360

509,450 347,111

13. NOTES PAYABLE AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Alberta Central is authorized to issue commercial paper to a maximum of $450,000. Amounts bear interest at a weighted-average rate of 2.31 
percent (2017 – 1.38 percent) and have a weighted average term of 37 days (2017 – 34 days). At December 31, 2018 commercial paper included 
$74,999 US ($102,277 CDN equivalent) (2017 – $Nil). 

Under an agreement with Central 1, effective July 6, 2011, Alberta Central has a line of credit to a maximum of $100,000. Pursuant to the terms of 
the Credit Union System Group Clearing Agreement (Note 19b), Alberta Central is obliged to pledge securities to Central 1 as the group clearer 
with a Bank of Canada collateral value based on clearing activity levels (Note 7). Amounts are due on demand and bear interest at the Bank of 
Canada overnight rate, or such other rate charged by the Bank of Canada, for Canadian dollar advances. For US dollar advances, amounts bear 
interest at the rate charged to Central 1 by the correspondent US bank. 

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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14. COMMON SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized:
Common shares held by Class A voting members – unlimited number at five dollars per share
Common shares held by Class B non-voting members – unlimited number at five dollars per share

Issued and outstanding:
Common shares held by Class A voting members – 49,561,739 shares (2017 – 48,949,686) 
Common shares held by Class B non-voting members – 155,357 shares (2017 – 253,475)

Common shares are held by Alberta credit unions (Class A members) and other non-credit union organizations (Class B members).

Alberta Central’s bylaws require member credit unions to maintain a minimum of one percent of their assets as common share capital in 
Alberta Central.

Alberta Central’s bylaws require that Class B members maintain common shares in Alberta Central, the total par value of which is not less than 
$100 dollars.

All requests for redemption of common share capital require approval from Alberta Central’s board of directors. The redemption price of all 
common shares is their par value of five dollars per share.

15. DIVIDENDS

Share capital
Share capital dividends of $8,068 (2017 – $6,080) were declared and paid based on Alberta Central’s prior year results. Special share capital 
dividends of $10,000 (2017 – $10,000) were also declared and paid. Both Class A and B members are eligible to participate in the receipt of share 
capital dividends from Alberta Central. 

All dividends require approval from Alberta Central’s board of directors (Note 22).

2018 2017

Common shares held by Class A members:

Balance, beginning of year 244,748 242,817

Issued, for cash (692,053 shares; 2017 – 386,283 shares) 3,460 1,931

Redeemed, at par (80,000 shares; 2017 – nil shares) (400) -

Balance as at December 31 247,808 244,748

Common shares held by Class B members:

Balance, beginning of year 1,267 1,267

Redeemed, at par (98,118 shares; 2017 – nil shares) (490) -

Balance as at December 31 777 1,267

Total common shares 248,585 246,015

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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16. COMMITMENTS

Alberta Central is party to a non-cancellable premises lease agreement ending December 31, 2021 which provides a renewal option for a further 
five years on the same terms and conditions. The future minimum lease payments for base rent under the non-cancellable operating lease are 
as follows:

Alberta Central’s lease payments are recognized as an expense in the year within property and equipment expense (Note 4).

Alberta Central has a non-cancellable premises sublease agreement with Celero ending December 31, 2021 for future minimum lease 
receipts for base rent totaling $1,129 (2017 – $1,506). 

17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Alberta Central has transactions with various related parties throughout the normal course of business. These transactions are measured at 
the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

a) Transactions with CUPS
During the year, Alberta Central charged CUPS various administrative, facilities services, interest and float fees totaling $4,752 (2017 – 
$4,948). During the year, CUPS charged Alberta Central various interest, distribution and administrative fees totaling $641 (2017 – $327). 
As at December 31, 2018, Alberta Central had a net payable of $1,039 to CUPS (2017 – receivable of $1,712) in respect to operating activities.

CUPS has a line of credit at Alberta Central to a maximum of $10,000, which bears interest at the Canadian prime business rate. As at 
December 31, 2018, CUPS had drawn $nil (2017 – $nil) on the line of credit.

On January 13, 2018, Alberta Central entered into a forward contract to purchase $200 US from CUPS, which expired on December 29, 2018. 

b) Transactions with Celero
During the year, Alberta Central charged Celero $3,043 (2017 – $3,204) for interest and various administrative and facilities services. Celero 
charged Alberta Central $1,333 (2017 – $1,284) for information technology services. As at December 31, 2018, Alberta Central had a net 
payable of $407 to Celero (2017 – $86) in respect to operating activities.

Under a Joint Venture Lender Agreement dated December 17, 2007, Celero has a line of credit facility with Alberta Central to a maximum 
of $10,000 and a $5,000 overdraft facility both with interest payable monthly at the Canadian prime business rate. Alberta Central is the 
lead lender of the above-noted loan facilities; however, SaskCentral and Manitoba Central, as joint venture partners, share in the provision 
and repayment of funds for these facilities in proportion to their ownership interest. As at December 31, 2018, Celero had drawn $nil (2017 
– $nil) against the line of credit facility or the authorized overdraft facility. The facilities are secured by a General Security Agreement over 
all assets of Celero.

One year or less (2019) 1,458

Later than one year and no later than five years (2020 – 2021) 2,915

Total future obligations under premises operating lease to 2021 4,373

2018 2017

Minimum lease payments 1,458 1,390

Operating expenses 1,156 1,188

Total 2,614 2,578

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Loans of $2,711 (2017 – $2,711) (Note 9) are repayable from Celero to Alberta Central. Interest is payable on the principal balance at the Canadian 
prime business rate.

Everlink has entered into agreements with Alberta Central, consisting of a line of credit to a maximum of $2,000 and authorized overdraft 
facilities to a maximum of $6,500. Celero has provided a guarantee on these agreements in proportion to its 49 percent shareholding in 
Everlink. As at December 31, 2018, Everlink had drawn $nil (2017 – $nil) against the line of credit or the authorized overdraft facility.

c) Transactions with Servus
As at December 31, 2018, Servus Credit Union Ltd. (Servus) owned 58.1 percent (2017 – 58.0 percent) of the total outstanding common shares 
held by Class A members of Alberta Central. Although Servus holds over 50 percent of the common shares in Alberta Central; it is limited, by 
the bylaws, to five positions out of a possible 12 (increasing to 14 effective January 1, 2019) appointed board members, resulting in significant 
influence, but not control. Servus has a credit facility agreement with Alberta Central in the aggregate amount of $1,180,000 comprising a 
revolving demand operating line of credit and revolving term loans. These facilities are secured through a pledge agreement and a general 
security agreement between Servus and Alberta Central. The outstanding balances with Servus included in Alberta Central’s statement of 
financial position and statement of income and comprehensive income are as follows:

d) Transactions with key management personnel
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities 
of Alberta Central and its proportionate interest in the CUPS joint operation and include 11 (2017 – 11) executive and senior management 
positions. Their aggregate compensation for the year included:

1 Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities

2018 2017

Loans 134,202 29,943

Members’ deposits 1,199,684 1,094,724

Membership dues rebate accrual1 748 1,030

Common share capital 143,862 141,912

Interest income on loans 281 541

Interest expense on members’ deposits 20,092 10,043

Member dues – Alberta Central 2,593 2,372

Member dues – Canadian Credit Union Association (CCUA) and other 1,157 1,135

Other operating revenues 2,306 2,329

Share capital dividends 10,456 9,424

Other distributions 676 564

2018 2017

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 2,557 2,852

Post-employment benefits 236 316

Long-term employee benefits (120) 298

Termination benefits and retiring allowances 400 -

3,073 3,466

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Mortgage loans to key management personnel bear interest at 1.0 to 2.7 percent (2017 – 1.0 to 2.0 percent) and are secured by property of 
the respective borrowers. The table below presents the outstanding balances and transactions with key management personnel related to 
mortgage loans:

Directors are entitled to receive remuneration for participating in Alberta Central and affiliate organization related business. Remuneration 
to directors ranges from $11 to $44 (2017 – $11 to $46), with an average of $18 (2017 – $18) per annum.

Commercial loans of $6,368 as at December 31, 2018 (2017 – $6,748) are due from entities controlled by directors of Alberta Central.

18. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Alberta Central’s objectives when managing capital are:

• To balance member credit unions’ desire for a return on capital with the capital requirements of Alberta Central to fulfill its liquidity 
mandate

• To maintain a strong capital base to support the continued growth and changing circumstances of the credit union system through the 
development of Alberta Central’s business

• To maintain a consistently strong credit rating and investor confidence

• To comply with the capital requirements set by its regulator

Alberta Central’s capital levels are regulated under guidelines issued by Alberta TBF, and require Alberta Central to maintain a prescribed 
borrowing multiple, the ratio of borrowings to regulatory capital, of 15:1 or less. 

As an integral component of its capital management, Alberta Central has established internal operating capital targets above the regulatory 
minimum to ensure it has appropriate buffers to absorb increases in member deposits or notes payable and other liabilities and/or reductions 
in its capital. Establishing internal operating capital targets allows Alberta Central to practice prudent capital management. Alberta Central’s 
bylaws provide the ability for Alberta Central to call for capital in the event that capital levels fall below specified risk tolerance levels.

e) Transactions with directors

2018 2017

Balance, beginning of year 2,255 2,293

Advances 1,036 175

Repayments (732) (213)

Balance as at December 31 2,559 2,255

2018 2017

Remuneration paid to directors 255 237

Expenses paid on behalf of directors 130 114

385 351

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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18. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, Alberta Central’s capital levels exceeded both regulatory and internal minimum capital requirements. The 
table below summarizes the composition of regulatory capital:

19. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Alberta Central’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management 
of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Alberta Central’s aim is to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimize 
potential adverse effects on the company’s financial performance according to the risk appetite and tolerance as approved by Alberta Central’s 
board of directors.

a) Credit risk 
Alberta Central takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the potential for loss due to the failure of a borrower or counterparty to meet its 
financial or contractual obligations. Credit exposures arise from investment activities that bring debt securities and derivatives into Alberta 
Central’s securities and derivatives portfolios, lending activities that lead to loans, and deposits held with third party financial institutions. 
Alberta Central is party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet credit risk that, in the normal course of operations, are used to meet 
its own and credit union members’ financial needs. These instruments include commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit and 
financial guarantees. The average term of commitments is one year. In the normal course of operations, these commitments may expire 
without being utilized.

Alberta Central’s maximum exposure to credit risk, including undrawn commitments, without taking account of any collateral held or other 
credit enhancements is:

2018 2017

Common shares (Note 14) 248,585 246,015

Retained earnings 60,199 66,001

Less:

Prepaid expenses 497 907

Deferred income tax asset 750 532

Equity investments excluding equity accounted income 3,220 3,220

Pension surplus, net of tax 1,781 1,446

Total regulatory capital 302,536 305,911

Excess over capital requirements 109,908 122,930

2018 2017

Cash at other financial institutions 67,636 12,674

Securities (Note 7) 2,743,665 2,727,176

Loans outstanding and undrawn commitments 2,166,734 2,132,525

Items in transit (Note 10) 13,637 59,898

Derivatives 10,962 18,540

Standby letters of credit and financial guarantees 2,556 2,751

Accounts receivable 1,616 4,813

5,006,806 4,958,377

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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19. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Alberta Central, as the manager of the Alberta credit union system liquidity pool, is responsible to develop an earning asset base while 
providing for borrowing needs of Alberta credit unions and their members. Alberta Central manages credit exposure on investment activities 
by adhering to an Investment Policy which identifies a basic standard of investment quality. The securities portfolio consists of high quality, 
highly liquid assets in which the credit risk is considered very low. Industry concentrations are disclosed in Note 7. There have been no 
significant changes in credit risk in securities from the prior year.

Alberta Central’s lending function focuses on the provision of loans to member credit unions and is closely integrated and coordinated 
with Alberta Central’s liquidity management role. In addition, all of Alberta Central’s commercial lending is provided on a syndicated basis 
with credit unions. Although Alberta Central or an individual credit union approved by Alberta Central may be positioned as the lead lender 
for any commercial loan, Alberta Central typically functions as a secondary syndication partner rather than the lead lender. Approval for 
all syndicated loans over $1,000 is obtained from the Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation (CUDGC). Alberta Central’s credit risk 
exposure related to its commercial lending function is mitigated where it is not the lead lender, as management performs its own monitoring 
of its commercial loan portfolio. In addition, under regulation, total commercial loans, leases, interests in pooling funds, other loans held and 
guarantees given by Alberta Central shall not exceed 150 percent of Alberta Central’s members’ equity as at the end of the previous fiscal year. 

Alberta Central employs and is committed to a number of important principles to manage credit exposures, which include:

• a board approved Lending Policy

• a management Credit Committee whose duties include review of lending policies and approval of larger credits

• delegated lending authorities, which are clearly communicated to personnel engaged in the credit granting process, a defined approval 
process for loans in excess of those limits and the review of larger credits by senior management personnel prior to recommendation 
to the management Credit Committee

• use of a credit risk classification system, which assigns a risk rating from 1 to 9, where 1 is excellent risk and 9 is impaired risk – non-
performing, to all syndicated commercial loans that are reviewed on a regular basis

• employment of personnel engaged in credit granting who are qualified and experienced in lending

• lending policies which are communicated to employees whose activities and responsibilities include credit granting and risk assessment

• board approved quantified risk appetites and tolerances for borrower, industry, portfolio quality and geographic segments in the 
commercial loan and mortgage portfolio, as well as total exposure to commercial loans relative to members’ equity

• annual reviews of loans

• independent reviews by Alberta Central’s internal audit group, which includes reporting the results to the management Credit 
Committee and Alberta Central’s Audit, Finance & Risk Committee

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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19. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The following tables show Alberta Central’s maximum lending exposure to credit risk, by industry and by portfolio, without taking account 
of any collateral held or other credit enhancements. Alberta Central’s commercial loans and mortgages portfolio is concentrated in Alberta 
(2017 – 99.9 percent).

CREDIT RISK EXPOSURE BY INDUSTRY 2018 2017

OUTSTANDING
UNDRAWN 

COMMITMENTS
TOTAL 

EXPOSURE
TOTAL 

EXPOSURE

System, affiliates & other 153,021 1,807,152 1,960,173 1,924,905 

Real estate - office 47,468 - 47,468 58,187 

Real estate - retail 42,891 - 42,891 40,340 

Real estate - apartment rental 27,499 - 27,499 28,593 

Commercial 26,362 - 26,362 18,546

Real estate - industrial 25,815 - 25,815 18,105

Hospitality 22,701 1,959 24,660 22,959

Construction 8,477 3,389 11,866 20,890

354,234 1,812,500 2,166,734 2,132,525

Collateral for the lending portfolio generally is as follows:

• Credit unions: first fixed and floating general security agreements, as well as pledge agreements over deposits held at Alberta Central

• Commercial loans and mortgages: secured primarily by real estate, as well as a general security agreement, with a loan to value ratio of 
less than 75 percent at origination of the loan

• Cooperatives: secured by promissory notes

• Celero and Everlink: general security agreement

• Employee mortgages: secured by a first charge mortgage over the residence

All loans more than 30 days in arrears are considered to be past due. As at December 31, 2018 there were $nil (2017 – $nil) loans outstanding 
that were past due but not impaired. 

The credit quality of the securities can be assessed by reference to the rating system of DBRS, Moody’s Corporation or Standard & Poor’s 
Corporation. Alberta Central’s Investment Policy states that the statutory investments held must be rated at least R-1 or P-1 for commercial 
paper and A for bonds. The credit risk related to equity investments in affiliates and cooperatives is limited as the Credit Union Act of Alberta 
restricts Alberta Central’s investment in such entities to ten percent of members’ equity without prior approval from Alberta TBF.

CREDIT RISK EXPOSURE BY PORTFOLIO 2018 2017

OUTSTANDING
UNDRAWN 

COMMITMENTS
TOTAL 

EXPOSURE
TOTAL 

EXPOSURE

Credit unions 144,326 1,782,652 1,926,978 1,889,949

Commercial loans and mortgages 201,213 18,348 219,561 220,622

Celero and Everlink 2,711 11,500 14,211 14,211

Employee mortgages 5,984 - 5,984 6,087

Cooperatives - - - 1,656

354,234 1,812,500 2,166,734 2,132,525

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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19. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Alberta Central enters into various derivative contracts in the normal course of its business, including interest rate swaps, call options, index 
options, bond forwards and foreign exchange forwards. The instruments are primarily used to meet the needs of member credit unions 
and to assist in Alberta Central’s risk management program. Other than credit risk, Alberta Central does not accept any net market risk 
exposure to derivative contracts entered into on behalf of member credit unions or for own use as it enters into offsetting contracts with other 
financial institution counterparties. Derivative assets and liabilities are marked to market with net changes in value recorded in net income. 
All non-credit union derivative counterparties are with major Canadian financial institutions rated AA or higher (as rated by DBRS). Under its 
Investment Policy, Alberta Central has established trading limits for each institution.

The following tables show details of Alberta Central’s derivative financial instruments:

FAVOURABLE CONTRACTS 2018 2017

NOTIONAL AMOUNT FAIR VALUE NOTIONAL AMOUNT FAIR VALUE

Credit unions:

Index options 580,000 5,187 126,864 10,149

Bond forwards 4,600 221 - -

Interest rate swaps 121,843 5,554 1,085,000 8,391

 706,443 10,962 1,211,864 18,540

UNFAVOURABLE CONTRACTS 2018 2017

NOTIONAL AMOUNT FAIR VALUE NOTIONAL AMOUNT FAIR VALUE

Credit unions:

Index options 580,000 5,187 126,864 10,149

Bond forwards 4,600 221 - -

Interest rate swaps 121,843 5,554 1,085,000 8,391

 706,443 10,962 1,211,864 18,540

The weighted-average interest rate paid on interest rate swaps with credit unions was 1.15 percent (2017 – 1.15 percent). The weighted-average 
interest rate received on interest rate swaps with credit unions was 1.21 percent (2017 – 1.55 percent). The net exposure is offset through interest 
rate swaps entered into with other financial institution counterparties.

Alberta Central is party to a Credit Support Annex, which requires Alberta Central to pledge cash to the extent that the net value of swaps with 
a certain major Canadian financial institution decreases below a specified level. Cash on the statement of financial position includes $5,610 
(2017 – $5,610) pledged with the financial institution.

b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that Alberta Central will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities when they fall 
due. To mitigate this risk, management has arranged diversified funding sources, manages assets with liquidity in mind and monitors future 
cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. Alberta Central’s sources of funding are deposits from member credit unions, its commercial paper 
program and a line of credit with Central 1. 

The majority of deposits from member credit unions are required by regulation as Alberta Central is the prescribed liquidity manager for 
Alberta’s credit unions. Alberta Central’s bylaws require Alberta credit unions to maintain a minimum of one percent of their assets as share 
capital in Alberta Central. Credit unions are also required to maintain liquidity deposits at Alberta Central such that the total liquidity deposits 
and share capital with Alberta Central comprise nine percent of the credit union’s liabilities.

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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19. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

As discussed in Note 13, Alberta Central, Central 1 and the credit union centrals of Manitoba and Saskatchewan are parties to a group clearing 
arrangement under the terms of the Credit Union System Group Clearing Agreement. 

Provincial legislation requires Alberta Central to maintain six percent of Alberta credit union system assets in government securities or certain 
other qualifying liquid assets maturing within one year. One third of this amount must mature within 90 days. The balance in qualifying liquid 
assets as required under provincial legislation as at December 31, 2018 was $1,602,469 (2017 – $1,496,824). Alberta Central’s liquidity reserves, 
when measured by year-end balances, were in excess of this requirement.

Contractual maturities for financial liabilities are shown in the table below:

c) Market risk
Market risk is comprised of three types of risk: foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. 

Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
foreign exchange rates. Foreign exchange risks exist mainly as a result of the existence of financial assets, derivatives and financial liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies. The risk associated with changing foreign currency values is managed under Alberta Central’s Investment 
Policy, which limits net exposures that can be maintained in various currencies. Alberta Central is not exposed to significant foreign exchange 
risk. Foreign exchange derivative contracts are utilized to lessen the impact of on-balance sheet positions. 

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that net interest income will be adversely impacted by changes in market interest rates. This risk occurs as a result of 
disparity in the re-pricing dates and basis (e.g., the benchmark interest rate) of interest rate sensitive financial assets, derivatives and financial 
liabilities. Alberta Central uses simulation modeling to monitor and manage interest rate risk. It also uses gap analysis to assess interest rate risk 
by measuring the difference between the amount of financial assets and financial liabilities that re-price in a particular time period.

Alberta Central’s interest rate sensitivity position as at December 31, 2018, as presented in the following tables, is based upon the contractual 
re-pricing and maturity dates of assets and liabilities. The table shows the cumulative gaps at various intervals.

WITHIN
3 MONTHS

FROM 3
MONTHS TO

1 YEAR

FROM
1 TO 5

YEARS TOTAL

Members’ deposits 2,273,941 89,180 8,300 2,371,421

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 8,656 - - 8,656

Notes payable and other liabilities 479,450 30,000 - 509,450

Derivative financial liabilities 2,298 3,335 5,329 10,962

December 31, 2018 2,764,345 122,515 13,629 2,900,489

December 31, 2017 2,486,238 252,902 18,437 2,757,577

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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19. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The following represents Alberta Central’s interest rate risk position:

 1 Provisions and fair value adjustments are included as non-interest sensitive.

WITHIN
3 MONTHS

FROM 3
MONTHS TO

1 YEAR

FROM
1 TO 5

YEARS

GREATER
THAN

5 YEARS

NON-
INTEREST

SENSITIVE1 TOTAL

Assets

Cash 67,636 - - - 10,919 78,555

Securities 1,761,628 760,200 201,925 7,000 12,912 2,743,665

Loans 196,561 20,742 111,747 25,184 (5,378) 348,856

Derivative financial assets 1,001 3,329 857 - 5,775 10,962

Other assets - - - - 50,055 50,055

 2,026,826 784,271 314,529 32,184 74,283 3,232,093

Weighted average interest rate 2.16% 2.13% 2.65% 3.07%

Liabilities and Members’ Equity

Members’ deposits 2,268,665 89,180 8,300 - 5,276 2,371,421

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities - - - - 8,656 8,656

Notes payable and other liabilities 311,577 30,000 - - 167,873 509,450

Derivative financial liabilities 1,001 3,329 857 - 5,775 10,962

Members’ equity - - - - 331,604 331,604

 2,581,243 122,509 9,157 - 519,184 3,232,093

Weighted average interest rate 1.89% 1.90% 1.78% 0.00%

Total interest rate sensitivity gap (554,417) 661,762 305,372 32,184 (444,901) -

Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap: 

December 31, 2018 (554,417) 107,345 412,717 444,901 - -

December 31, 2017 (548,425) 56,841 359,755 392,067 - -

2018 2017

Impact on members’ equity from:

Increase in interest rates of 100 basis points (8,163) (7,651)

Decrease in interest rates of 100 basis points 8,442 7,960

Impact on net income from:

Increase in interest rates of 100 basis points (1,736) (762)

Decrease in interest rates of 100 basis points 1,986 723

Other price risk
Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument, including derivatives, will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or foreign exchange risk), whether those changes are caused by 
factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. 
Alberta Central manages its other price risk by adhering to an Investment Policy.

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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20. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of Alberta Central’s financial instruments is determined as follows:

The fair value of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and notes payable and other liabilities approximates their 
carrying value due to their short-term nature. 

The fair value and related carrying value of all financial instruments, excluding those whose fair value and carrying value are the same or are 
presented at fair value in the financial statements, have been summarized below:

Financial liabilities at fair value as at December 31:

Financial instruments measured at fair value on the statement of financial position must be classified within a hierarchy that prioritizes the 
inputs to fair value measurements. The three levels of the hierarchy are:

• Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

• Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly

• Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data

Financial assets at fair value as at December 31:

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT DETERMINATION

Floating rate notes and bonds Based on broker quoted market prices

Commercial paper, bankers’ acceptances and bearer deposit notes Based on discounted cash flow model using market interest rates or prices for similar 

instruments (interest rate curve)

Treasury bills Based on discounted cash flow model using treasury bill interest rates (T-bill curve)

Equity investments in cooperative entities Based on most recent reliable estimate of fair value 

Derivative financial instruments Based on recent market transactions for similar derivative instruments or if recent 

market transactions are not available, based on discounted cash flow model

2018 2017

CARRYING VALUE FAIR VALUE CARRYING VALUE FAIR VALUE

Financial assets

Loans 348,856 349,722 246,746 248,269

Financial liabilities

Members’ deposits 2,371,421 2,371,424 2,384,275 2,384,029

LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL 

Derivative financial liabilities - 10,962 - 10,962

December 31, 2018 - 10,962 - 10,962

December 31, 2017 - 18,540 - 18,540

LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL 

Cash 78,555 - - 78,555

Securities - 2,733,735 9,930 2,743,665

Derivative financial assets - 10,962 - 10,962

Items in transit (Note 10) 13,637 - - 13,637

December 31, 2018 92,192 2,744,697 9,930 2,846,819

December 31, 2017 77,116 2,707,870 25,700 2,810,686

(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)
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(thousands of dollars except where otherwise noted)

20. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Alberta Central holds FVOCI equity securities in cooperative entities which do not have a quoted market price in an active market; however, they 
are recorded at an aggregate fair value of $9,930 (2017 – $25,700) based on the most recent reliable estimate of fair value available. Certain of 
these investments were merged in 2018 and are now accounted for using the equity method (Note 8). Alberta Central has no plans to dispose 
of the remaining equity securities as of the date of these financial statements. 

Fair value measurements using level 3 inputs includes investments which are held for the purpose of strategic alliance. This balance includes:

Changes in fair value measurements using Level 3 inputs during the year:

NEI and Credential valuations are based on market comparable data with reference to assets under management multipliers ranging from  
1.5 percent to 3.5 percent (2017 – 1.5 percent to 3.5 percent), earnings multipliers ranging from 8.0 to 10.0 (2017 – 8.0 to 10.0).

Concentra fair value is based on dividend returns using historical data.

Alberta Central measures its investment in 189286 Canada Inc. based on its proportionate interest in the net assets of the entity and considers 
the appropriateness and assumptions used by 189286 Canada Inc. in its discounted cash flow analysis to measure its investment in Interac Corp. 

 21: COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

22: EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

On February 21, 2019, Alberta Central’s board of directors declared a share capital dividend to members of approximately $8,800 for payment 
on March 8, 2019. 

2018 2017

189286 Canada Inc.1 5,020  351 

Concentra Bank 4,512  4,512 

CCUA and other 398  398 

Credential (Note 10) - 11,859

NEI (Note 10) -  8,580 

 9,930 25,700

2018 2017

Balance, beginning of year 25,700 5,761

Unrealized gains in OCI 6,002 19,939

Disposition of investments in NEI and Credential (21,772) -

Balance as at December 31 9,930 25,700

 1 189286 Canada Inc. holds a direct investment in Interac Corp. 
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